

# RAFAELLA TEIXEIRA MACIEL OLIVEIRA

# EFFECTS OF THE CONVERSION OF NEOTROPICAL SAVANNAS INTO PASTURES ON DUNG BEETLES BIODIVERSITY AND THEIR ECOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS

LAVRAS - MG 2019

# **RAFAELLA TEIXEIRA MACIEL OLIVEIRA**

# EFFECTS OF THE CONVERSION OF NEOTROPICAL SAVANNAS INTO PASTURES ON DUNG BEETLES BIODIVERSITY AND THEIR ECOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS

Tese apresentada à Universidade Federal de Lavras, como parte das exigências do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Entomologia, para a obtenção do título de Doutor.

Prof. Dr. Julio Neil Cassa Louzada Orientador Prof. Dr. Rodrigo Fagundes Braga Coorientador

# LAVRAS - MG 2019

Ficha catalográfica elaborada pelo Sistema de Geração de Ficha Catalográfica da Biblioteca Universitária da UFLA, com dados informados pelo(a) próprio(a) autor(a).

> Oliveira, Rafaella Teixeira Maciel. Effects of the conversion of Neotropical savannas into pastures on dung beetles biodiversity and their ecological functions / Rafaella Teixeira Maciel Oliveira. - 2019. 82 p. : il.

Orientador(a): Julio Neil Cassa Louzada. Coorientador(a): Rodrigo Fagundes Braga. Tese (doutorado) - Universidade Federal de Lavras, 2019. Bibliografia.

1. Taxonomic diversity. 2. Functional diversity. 3. Ecosystem functioning. I. Louzada, Julio Neil Cassa. II. Braga, Rodrigo Fagundes. III. Título.

# **RAFAELLA TEIXEIRA MACIEL OLIVEIRA**

# EFFECTS OF THE CONVERSION OF NEOTROPICAL SAVANNAS INTO PASTURES ON DUNG BEETLES BIODIVERSITY AND THEIR ECOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS

Tese apresentada à Universidade Federal de Lavras, como parte das exigências do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Entomologia, para a obtenção do título de Doutor.

APROVADA em 15 de agosto de 2019. Dra. Brígida de Souza UFLA Dr. Marcelo Passamani UFLA Dra. Lívia Dorneles Audino UFLA Dr. Lucas Navarro Paolucci UFLA

> Prof. Dr. Julio Neil Cassa Louzada Orientador Prof. Dr. Rodrigo Fagundes Braga Coorientador

# LAVRAS - MG 2019

Aos meus pais, Leonardo e Denise, e aos meus irmãos, Marcella e Arthur, pelo apoio e compreensão pelos tantos momentos de ausência,

Dedico.

# Agradecimentos

Agradeço primeiramente a Deus, por me dar saúde e possibilitar que meus sonhos se tornassem realidade.

Aos meus pais e irmãos por sempre me apoiarem e compreenderem os tantos momentos de ausência, vocês foram e são fundamentais para me manterem em pé e para seguir em frente em busca dos meus sonhos.

Ao meu orientador de tantos anos, Prof. Dr. Julio Louzada, pelos tantos ensinamentos, por sempre estar disposto a ajudar.

Ao meu Co-orientador Dr. Rodrigo Fagundes Braga, pela ajuda durante o doutorado e pelas aventuras em campo.

Aos mais que colegas, amigos rola bosteiros, Lívia, Nay, Tais, Cássio, André, Yojana, Cezár Pará, e demais, pelas tantas conversas, apoio nos momentos de dificuldades, momentos de descontração no cafezinho das 15h e pela paciência nos dias difíceis.

Agradeço também a todos os colegas e professores do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Entomologia e da Ecologia, pelos tantos ensinamentos e amizades.

À UFLA, por todas as oportunidades nesses onze anos. Orgulho de ser UFLA sempre!

À Dra. Eleanor Margaret Slade, que apesar do pouco momento de convivência foi muito importante para minha formação. Pelos cuidados e preocupação durante meu tempo na Inglaterra.

As amigas Caroline e Laodicéia, pelos encontros de terça, jantares e vinhos, vocês são essenciais e fundamentais na minha vida. Obrigada por me manterem sempre erguida, pelo apoio nos momentos difíceis e pela amizade incondicional.

Às amigas gatas Ruanny (e a Iarinha), Débora e Aline, pelos momentos de risadas e pela amizade, por estarem sempre ao meu lado me apoiando e torcendo por mim, por estarem comigo nos bons e maus momentos.

Aos amigos de Formiga, minha cidade natal, que apesar da distância estão sempre presentes, sempre me apoiando e torcendo por mim. Amigos de uma vida toda, que apesar de nos encontrarmos pouco, estão sempre comigo! A todos que me ajudaram em campo, Rodrigo, Julius, Glauco e a todos os proprietários que permitiram a realização do meu trabalho em suas propriedades. Sem eles nada teria sido possível.

A todos os familiares, por compreenderem os tantos momentos de ausência e por sempre torcerem pelo meu sucesso.

Agradeço à CAPES pela concessão da bolsa de doutorado e à FAPEMIG pelo apoio financeiro para realização do projeto e trabalho de campo.

O presente trabalho foi realizado com o apoio da Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) – Código de Financiamento 001.

A todos que de alguma forma contribuíram para minha formação.

Meus sinceros agradecimentos.

# **RESUMO GERAL**

A substituição de sistemas naturais causada pela expansão da agricultura e pecuária tem sido o principal determinador da biodiversidade nas regiões tropicais. Associada às mudanças de uso do solo, as mudanças climáticas têm causado fortes impactos nos sistemas biológicos e podem alterar a distribuição e as interações das espécies. Estima-se que um quinto da população humana mundial viva em regiões de savanas tropicais e dependem diretamente desses sistemas, fazendo com que este seja um dos sistemas que sofrem mais distúrbios atualmente. O Cerrado brasileiro é a savana tropical mais biodiversa e com maiores taxas de endemismo, no entanto, tem sido amplamente devastado para a implementação de áreas destinadas à agricultura e pecuária. Os besouros rola-bostas são sensíveis às mudanças climáticas, já que o clima influencia diretamente seu ciclo de vida. Além disso, esses besouros têm sido amplamente usados como bioindicadores por apresentarem especificidade de habitat e por responderem às mudanças nas condições ambientais. Devido a isso, tanto as mudanças climáticas quanto distúrbios nos sistemas naturais podem afetar a comunidade de besouros rola-bostas, mudando as associações de habitat e reduzindo as taxas de remoção de fezes e demais funções associadas. Neste trabalho, investigamos os efeitos da conversão de savana tropical em pastagens na biodiversidade e funções ecossistêmicas, usando os rola-bostas como modelo de estudo. Nós também utilizamos variável climática e variáveis ambientais para testar seus efeitos diretos e indiretos na comunidade de rola-bosta e suas funções ecológicas de remoção de fezes, revolvimento do solo, e a interação entre besouros e moscas detritívoras. Para isso, selecionamos áreas experimentais de Cerrado e pastagens exóticas introduzidas em diferentes localidades no estado de Minas Gerais, Brasil. Nós encontramos que a conversão de savana em pastagens tem efeito negativo tanto na diversidade taxonômica quanto na diversidade funcional, causando declínio na riqueza de espécies, riqueza funcional e equitabilidade funcional dos besouros. Também encontramos que a conversão do Cerrado em pastagens pode causar um efeito em cascata, já que a perda de cobertura vegetal leva à perda na riqueza de espécies, o que por sua vez causa declínio da biomassa total e diversidade funcional, afetando as funções ecológicas e a interação entre besouros e moscas detritívoras. No entanto, o efeito da mudança de uso do solo em savana tropical é dependente da zona bioclimática. Nossos resultados mostram a importância do Cerrado para a biodiversidade e manutenção do funcionamento dos ecossistemas, e sugerimos que políticas públicas sejam tomadas de forma a avaliar as regiões submetidas a diferentes condições bioclimáticas de maneira independente, já que a resposta das comunidades de besouros rola-bosta se mostrou dependente do contexto regional.

**Palavras-chave:** Diversidade taxonômica. Diversidade funcional. Funcionamento do ecossistema. Zona bioclimática. Mudança de uso do solo. Cerrado.

# GENERAL ABSTRACT

The replacement of natural systems caused by the expansion of agriculture and livestock has been the main driver of biodiversity in tropical regions. Associated to the land use changes, the climate change are having a strong impact on biological system and may altered the biodiversity distribution and interactions. It is estimated that one-fifth of the world's population live in tropical savannas regions and depends directly on these systems, making than one of the most impacted ones. The Brazilian Cerrado is the largest, richest tropical savannah, with a high rate of endemism, however it has been extensively cleared for agriculture and livestock. The group of organisms of dung beetles are sensitive to climate changes, since climate has direct influence on their life cycle. Besides, these beetles has been widely used as bioindicator since they show habitat specificity and respond to changes in environmental conditions. Due so, both climate changes and disturbances in natural systems may affect dung beetle communities, changing the habitat associations and reducing the rates of dung removal and the associated functions. Here, we aim to understand how conversion of savannah into pasture affects biodiversity and ecosystem functioning using dung beetles as a study group. We also assessed climatic and environmental variables to test their direct and indirect effects on dung beetle communities and associated ecological functions dung removal, soil bioturbation, and dung beetles interaction with dung-feeding fly. To do these, we selected experimental study areas of Cerrado and exotic cattle pastures in different municipalities in the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil. We found that conversion of savanna into pasture has a negative effect on both taxonomic and functional diversity metrics, causing loss of species richness, functional richness and equitability. We also found that Cerrado conversion into pasture can have a cascade effect, as the loss of vegetation cover leads to loss of dung beetle species richness, which causes loss of biomass and functional indices, affecting dung beetle functions and interaction with dung flies. However, the effect of land use changes in tropical savannas is dependent of the bioclimatic zones. Our results showed the importance of Cerrado habitat for biodiversity and the maintenance of ecosystem functioning, and we suggest that pubic politics should be thought to evaluate separately each region, submitted to the effects of different bioclimatic conditions, since the responses of dung beetles communities are context dependent.

**Keywords:** Taxonomic diversity. Functional diversity. Ecosystem functioning. Bioclimatic zone. Land use change. Cerrado.

# SUMÁRIO

PRIMEIRA PARTE
INTRODUÇÃO GERAL
REFERÊNCIAS17
SEGUNDA PARTE - ARTIGOS23
ARTIGO 1
CERRADO CONVERSION TO PASTURE AFFECTS DUNG BEETLE COMMUNITY STRUCTURE AND FUNCTIONING24
ABSTRACT
1. INTRODUCTION
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Study site
2.2 Dung beetle data
2.3 Dung beetle traits
2.4 Diversity metrics calculations
2.5 Statistical analyses
2.5.1 Taxonomic diversity
2.5.2 Functional diversity
2.5.3 Taxonomic and functional composition
3. RESULTS
3.1 Taxonomic diversity
3.2 Functional diversity
3.3 Taxonomic and functional composition
4. DISCUSSION
4.1 Taxonomic diversity
4.2 Functional diversity
4.3 Taxonomic and functional composition
4.4 Final considerations
REFERENCES40
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL
ARTIGO 2
THE PATHWAYS OF CLIMATIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL ON DUNG BEETLE COMMUNITIES AND FUNCTIONS IN TROPICAL SAVANNAS

ABSTRACT	60
1. INTRODUCTION	61
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	62
2.1 Study site	62
2.2 Dung beetle sampling	64
2.3 Dung beetle functions	65
2.4 Larvae and adult flies sampling	
2.5 Vegetation structural characterization	
2.6 Data analysis	67
2.6.1 Variables	67
2.6.2 Structural Equations Modeling	
3. RESULTS	69
4. DISCUSSION	
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	
CONCLUSÃO GERAL	
REFERÊNCIAS	85

# PRIMEIRA PARTE

# INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

A crescente demanda para produção de alimento tem sido o principal responsável pela substituição de sistemas naturais em áreas destinadas à agricultura e pecuária (Aide et al., 2013; Houghton, 2012; Sy et al., 2015). Essa mudança de uso do solo causa declínio da biodiversidade, afetando o funcionamento dos ecossistemas e a provisão de serviços ambientais essenciais para o bem estar humano (Braga et al., 2013; Cardinale et al., 2012; Foley, 2005; Suarez-castro et al., 2015). Juntamente com a degradação ambiental, o clima vem tornando-se uma importante causa de extinção, com as mudanças climáticas em andamento nos dias de hoje (Lemes et al., 2019; Pacifici et al., 2015; Thomas et al., 2004). Já é conhecido que as mudanças climáticas têm forte impacto em sistemas biológicos, alterando as populações, comunidades e processos ecossistêmicos, com possíveis consequências no funcionamento dos ecossistemas (Milotić et al., 2017; Parmesan, 2006; Thomas et al., 2004).

Estudos recentes têm mostrado que as espécies já estão respondendo a mudanças microclimáticas, através de mudanças na distribuição geográfica e altitudinal (Birkett et al., 2018; Parmesan, 2006; Pecl et al., 2017). Além disso, a interação entre as espécies e suas respostas a variações do clima são dependentes do contexto do habitat (González-Megías and Menéndez, 2012; Slade et al., 2016). Sendo assim, as variações climáticas associadas às mudanças de uso do solo podem não só afetar a distribuição das espécies, mas também a interação entre elas, produzindo cenários imprevisíveis (González-Megías and Menéndez, 2012). Diante disso, torna-se essencial entender a relação entre as variações climáticas e mudanças de uso do solo e seus efeitos nas comunidades e suas funções, para prever os efeitos negativos e tomar medidas de conservação necessárias.

A conversão de sistemas naturais em pastagens para criação de gado tem tido fortes impactos em sistemas florestais, devido à abrupta perda na cobertura vegetal (Ratnam et al., 2011). No entanto, tem sido sugerido que em sistemas de fitofisionomias naturalmente mais abertas, tais como as savanas tropicais, essa mudança de uso do solo pode causar apenas mudanças sutis, e a degradação, perda de biodiversidade e funcionamento do ecossistema podem ser mais discretas e menos visíveis comparado a sistemas florestais (Almeida et al., 2011; Parr et al., 2014; Zaloumis and Bond, 2011). Nas últimas décadas, estudos usando métricas de diversidade funcional para complementar a abordagem taxonômica, para quantificar a resposta da biodiversidade e suas funções à degradação ambiental tem aumentado (Barragán et al., 2011; Elmqvist et al., 2003; Gagic et al., 2015). Com isso, a inclusão da abordagem funcional tem permitido o melhor entendimento dos mecanismos que

determinam essa resposta da biodiversidade às mudanças no ecossistema (Beiroz et al., 2018; Mouillot et al., 2013; Petchey and Gaston, 2006). Além disso, alguns estudos têm sugerido que métricas funcionais melhor predizem o funcionamento dos ecossistemas do que os tradicionais índices baseados em espécies (Gagic et al., 2015). No entanto, as métricas funcionais mais utilizadas são baseadas em características categóricas comportamentais, e não consideram as características morfológicos dos indivíduos, o que pode causar perda de informações (Griffiths et al., 2015; Petchey and Gaston, 2006).

Um dos sistemas que tem sido mais degradado atualmente, são as savanas tropicais. Savanas tropicais cobrem mais de 20% da superfície da terra (Scholes and Archer, 1997), e estima-se que um quinto da população mundial dependa diretamente desse sistema, em grande parte para criação de gado (Lehmann et al., 2009; Olsson and Ouattara, 2013). O Cerrado brasileiro é uma das maiores e mais rica savana tropical, com altas taxas de endemismo, sendo considerado um importante *hotspot* para a biodiversidade (Myers et al., 2000). No entanto é também um dos sistemas mais ameaçados. Nas últimas décadas, o Cerrado tem sido extensivamente degradado para implementação de agricultura e pecuária, e estima-se que metade de suas áreas naturais tenham sido perdidas nos últimos 50 anos (Beuchle et al., 2015; Overbeck et al., 2015).

O Cerrado constitui a segunda maior formação vegetal do Brasil e está localizado, em sua maioria, na região central do país (Alho, 2005). Este sistema é formado por um complexo mosaico de fitofisionomias nativas que variam desde o campo limpo (predominância de gramíneas, usadas tradicionalmente como pastagem), passando pelo campo sujo e Cerrado *sensu strictu* até florestas semidecíduas (Cerradão e florestas ciliares) (Ribeiro and Walter, 1998). A substituição de áreas nativas por pastagens de gramíneas exóticas, em sua maioria *Urochloa* spp., vem sendo implementada em muitas regiões com o objetivo de aumentar a capacidade suporte de gado (Martha and Vilela, 2002; Cavalcanti and Joly, 2002). O efeito da conversão de savanas tropicais em sistemas antrópicos na biodiversidade tem sido bem documentada (Arcoverde et al., 2017; de Queiroz et al., 2017; Lemes et al., 2019), mas pouco se sabe sobre esses efeitos na diversidade funcional e nas funções ecossistêmicas.

Dentre todos os organismos, os insetos, como os besouros rola-bosta (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeidae), são aqueles mais afetados pelas mudanças climáticas, já que o clima tem influência direta no seu desenvolvimento, reprodução e sobrevivência (Bale et al., 2002; Menendez, 2007). Além disso, esses besouros apresentam especificidade de habitat e a estrutura de sua comunidade é fortemente afetada pelo tipo de vegetação, respondendo a mudanças nas condições ambientais, e por isso têm sido amplamente utilizados como bioindicadores (Bicknell et al., 2014; Costa et al., 2017; Filgueiras et al., 2015; Halffter and Arellano, 2002). Bioindicadores são aqueles organismos ou comunidades nos quais as funções vitais estão intimamente relacionadas com fatores ambientais e podem ser utilizados para observar os efeitos de agentes estressantes, como poluentes e degradação da vegetação em ambientes naturais (Goodsell et al., 2009; Mcgeoch, 1998).

Os besouros rola-bosta têm hábito alimentar detritívoro, utilizando material orgânico como principal fonte de alimento. Esses besouros podem ser divididos em três grupos funcionais de acordo com a forma que alocam o recurso alimentar: telecoprídeos (roladores), paracoprídeos (escavadores) e endocoprídeos (residentes) (Halffter and Edmonds, 1982). Devido a esse hábito alimentar e comportamental, os rola-bostas realizam importantes funções ecológicas, como remoção da matéria orgânica em decomposição, incorporação de nutrientes, bioturbação, aeração do solo e dispersão secundária de sementes (Griffiths et al., 2015; Nichols et al., 2008; Sitters et al., 2014). Além disso, a utilização de depósitos de fezes e carcaças como fonte alimentar e de nidificação é um dos aspectos econômicos mais importantes entre suas funções ecológicas, pois colabora com a redução populacional de organismos que causam problemas ao homem, como moscas hematófagas e detritívoras, e que também utilizam bolos fecais e carcaças como locais de reprodução (Braga et al., 2012; Slade et al., 2007; Wu and Sun, 2010).

Mudanças na paisagem podem afetar diretamente esses besouros, agindo como um regulador das condições microclimáticas ou, indiretamente, alterando a fauna de vertebrados e, consequentemente, a disponibilidade de recurso alimentar (Estrada and Coates-Estrada, 2002; Raine et al., 2018; Vieira et al., 2008). Por estarem diretamente relacionados a vertebrados, devido à utilização de suas fezes como recurso alimentar, os rola-bostas têm sido utilizados também para estudar o efeito cascata em mudanças de hábitat (Gillett et al., 2016; Raine et al., 2018; Raine and Slade, 2019). Além disso, mudanças climáticas e distúrbios nos sistemas naturais podem afetar as comunidades de besouros rola-bosta, através de alterações nas distribuições das espécies, reduzindo as taxas de remoção de fezes e as funções ecológicas associadas (Beynon et al., 2012; Menéndez et al., 2016). Sendo assim, nesse trabalho utilizamos os besouros rola-bosta como ferramenta de estudo, para avaliar os efeitos da conversão de Cerrado em pastagens em diferentes regiões bioclimáticas.

A presente tese está dividida em dois capítulos. No primeiro capítulo nós avaliamos como a conversão de Cerrado em pastagens afeta a diversidade taxonômica e funcional de besouros rola-bosta. Nós utilizamos a riqueza de espécies, abundância, biomassa total e composição de espécies de besouros como parâmetros da diversidade taxonômica. Para a diversidade funcional, usamos características morfológicas e comportamental para gerar índices de riqueza, equitabilidade e divergência funcional. Nesse capítulo, buscamos responder as seguintes perguntas: 1) A conversão de Cerrado em pastagens resulta em perda na riqueza de espécies, abundância, e biomassa total de besouros, e altera a composição de espécies? 2) A conversão de Cerrado em pastagens causa perda de diversidade funcional levando à simplificação do ecossistema?

No segundo capítulo, nós selecionamos três zonas bioclimáticas para testar os efeitos da conversão de Cerrado em pastagens em regiões submetidas a diferentes condições climáticas. Nós então utilizamos a variável climáticas e variáveis ambientais para: 1) testar se o efeito da conversão de Cerrado em pastagens é dependente da zona bioclimática; 2) verificar os efeitos diretos e indiretos da zona bioclimática e da mudança de uso do solo na comunidade de besouros; e 3) identificar os principais fatores que explicam as funções ecológicas. Para isso, obtivemos a heterogeneidade e densidade da vegetação como variáveis ambientais; a riqueza, biomassa e índices de diversidade funcional dos besouros rola-bosta; e remoção de fezes, revolvimento do solo, abundância de moscas detritívoras adultas e larvas como variáveis funcionais.

# REFERÊNCIAS

- Aide, T.M., Clark, M.L., Grau, H.R., López-Carr, D., Levy, M.A., Redo, D., Bonilla-Moheno, M., Riner, G., Andrade-Núñez, M.J., Muñiz, M., 2013. Deforestation and Reforestation of Latin America and the Caribbean (2001-2010). Biotropica 45, 262–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2012.00908.x
- Alho, C. J. R. Desafios para a conservação do Cerrado em face das atuais tendências de uso e ocupação. In: SCARIOT, A.; SOUSA-SILVA, J. C.; FELFILI, J. M. (Ed.). Cerrado: ecologia, biodiversidade e conservação. Brasília: Ministério do Meio Ambiente, 2005. p. 367-381.
- Almeida, S., Louzada, J., Sperber, C., Barlow, J., 2011. Subtle Land-Use Change and Tropical Biodiversity: Dung Beetle Communities in Cerrado Grasslands and Exotic Pastures. Biotropica 43, 704–710. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2011.00751.x
- Arcoverde, G.B., Andersen, A.N., Setterfield, S.A., 2017. Is livestock grazing compatible with biodiversity conservation? Impacts on savanna ant communities in the Australian seasonal tropics. Biodivers. Conserv. 26, 883–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-016-1277-5
- Bale, J.S., Masters, G.J., Hodkinson, I.D., Awmack, C., Bezemer, T.M., Brown, V.K., Butterfield, J., Buse, A., Coulson, J.C., Farrar, J., Good, J.E.G., Harrington, R., Hartley, S., Jones, T.H., Lindroth, R.L., Press, M.C., Symrnioudis, I., Watt, A.D., Whittaker, J.B., 2002. Herbivory in global climate change research: direct effects of rising temperature on insect herbivores. Glob. Chang. Biol. 8, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2002.00451.x
- Barragán, F., Moreno, C.E., Escobar, F., Halffter, G., Navarrete, D., 2011. Negative Impacts of Human Land Use on Dung Beetle Functional Diversity. PLoS One 6, e17976. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017976
- Beiroz, W., Sayer, E., Slade, E.M., Audino, L., Braga, R.F., Louzada, J., Barlow, J., 2018. Spatial and temporal shifts in functional and taxonomic diversity of dung beetles in a human-modified tropical forest landscape. Ecol. Indic. 95, 518–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.07.062
- Beuchle, R., Grecchi, R.C., Shimabukuro, Y.E., Seliger, R., Eva, H.D., Sano, E., Achard, F., 2015. Land cover changes in the Brazilian Cerrado and Caatinga biomes from 1990 to 2010 based on a systematic remote sensing sampling approach. Appl. Geogr. 58, 116– 127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.01.017
- Beynon, S.A., Peck, M., Mann, D.J., Lewis, O.T., 2012. Consequences of alternative and conventional endoparasite control in cattle for dung-associated invertebrates and ecosystem functioning. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 162, 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2012.08.010
- Bicknell, J.E., Phelps, S.P., Davies, R.G., Mann, D.J., Struebig, M.J., Davies, Z.G., 2014. Dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: Evaluating best practice forestry in the neotropics. Ecol. Indic. 43, 154–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.02.030

- Birkett, A.J., Blackburn, G.A., Menéndez, R., 2018. Linking species thermal tolerance to elevational range shifts in upland dung beetles. Ecography (Cop.). 41, 1510–1519. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.03458
- Braga, R.F., Korasaki, V., Andresen, E., Louzada, J., 2013. Dung Beetle Community and Functions along a Habitat-Disturbance Gradient in the Amazon: A Rapid Assessment of Ecological Functions Associated to Biodiversity. PLoS One 8, e57786. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057786
- Braga, R.F., Korasaki, V., Audino, L.D., Louzada, J., 2012. Are Dung Beetles Driving Dung-Fly Abundance in Traditional Agricultural Areas in the Amazon? Ecosystems 15, 1173– 1181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-012-9576-5
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., MacE, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S., Naeem, S., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486, 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148
- Cavalcanti, B., Joly, C., 2002. Biodiversity and conservation priorities in the cerrado region. In: Oliveira, P. M. R. (Ed.). The Cerrados of Brazil ecology and natural history of a neotropical savanna. New York: Columbia University, 351-368
- Costa, C., Oliveira, V.H.F., Maciel, R., Beiroz, W., Korasaki, V., Louzada, J., 2017. Variegated tropical landscapes conserve diverse dung beetle communities. PeerJ 5, e3125. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3125
- de Queiroz, A.C.M., Rabello, A.M., Braga, D.L., Santiago, G.S., Zurlo, L.F., Philpott, S.M., Ribas, C.R., 2017. Cerrado vegetation types determine how land use impacts ant biodiversity. Biodivers. Conserv. 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-017-1379-8
- Elmqvist, T., Folke, C., Nyström, M., Peterson, G., Bengtsson, J., Walker, B., Norberg, J., 2003. Response diversity, ecosystem change, and resilience. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1, 488–492. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2003)001[0488:RDECAR]2.0.CO;2
- Estrada, A., Coates-Estrada, R., 2002. Dung beetles in continuous forest, forest fragments and in an agricultural mosaic habitat island at Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. Biodivers. Conserv. 11, 1903–1918. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020896928578
- Filgueiras, B.K.C., Tabarelli, M., Leal, I.R., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Iannuzzi, L., 2015. Dung beetle persistence in human-modified landscapes: Combining indicator species with anthropogenic land use and fragmentation-related effects. Ecol. Indic. 55, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.02.032
- Foley, J.A., 2005. Global Consequences of Land Use. Science (80-. ). 309, 570–574. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1111772
- Gagic, V., Bartomeus, I., Jonsson, T., Taylor, A., Winqvist, C., Fischer, C., Slade, E.M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Emmerson, M., Potts, S.G., Tscharntke, T., Weisser, W., Bommarco, R., 2015. Functional identity and diversity of animals predict ecosystem functioning better than species-based indices. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 282, 20142620– 20142620. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2620

- Gillett, C.P.D.T., Johnson, A.J., Barr, I., Hulcr, J., 2016. Metagenomic sequencing of dung beetle intestinal contents directly detects and identifies mammalian fauna. bioRxiv Prepr. 074849. https://doi.org/10.1101/074849
- González-Megías, A., Menéndez, R., 2012. Climate change effects on above- and belowground interactions in a dryland ecosystem. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 367, 3115–3124. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0346
- Goodsell, P.J., Underwood, A.J., Chapman, M.G., 2009. Evidence necessary for taxa to be reliable indicators of environmental conditions or impacts. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 323–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2008.10.011
- Griffiths, H.M., Louzada, J., Bardgett, R.D., Beiroz, W., França, F., Tregidgo, D., Barlow, J., 2015. Biodiversity and environmental context predict dung beetle-mediated seed dispersal in a tropical forest field experiment. Ecology 96, 1607–1619. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1211.1
- Halffter, G., Arellano, L., 2002. Response of Dung Beetle Diversity to Human-induced Changes in a Tropical Landscape1. Biotropica 34, 144–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2002.tb00250.x
- Halffter, G., Edmonds, W.D., 1982. The Nesting Behavior of Dung Beetles. Inst. Ecol. 1–155. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0484-130
- Houghton, R., 2012. Carbon emissions and the drivers of deforestation and forest degradation in the tropics. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 4, 597–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2012.06.006
- Lehmann, C.E.R., Ratnam, J., Hutley, L.B., 2009. Which of these continents is not like the other? Comparisons of tropical savanna systems: Key questions and challenges. New Phytol. 181, 508–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02734.x
- Lemes, L., de Andrade, A.F.A., Loyola, R., 2019. Spatial priorities for agricultural development in the Brazilian Cerrado: may economy and conservation coexist? Biodivers. Conserv. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01719-6
- Martha, G.B.J., Vilela, L., 2002. Pastagens no Cerrado : Baixa Produtividade pelo Pastagens no Cerrado : Embrapa Cerrados 30.
- Mcgeoch, M.A., 1998. The selection, testing and application of terrestrial insects as bioindicators, Biol. Rev.
- Menendez, R., 2007. How are insects responding to global warming? Tijdschr. voor Entomol. 150, 355–365.
- Menéndez, R., Webb, P., Orwin, K.H., 2016. Complementarity of dung beetle species with different functional behaviours influence dung–soil carbon cycling. Soil Biol. Biochem. 92, 142–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.10.004
- Milotić, T., Quidé, S., Van Loo, T., Hoffmann, M., 2017. Linking functional group richness and ecosystem functions of dung beetles: an experimental quantification. Oecologia 183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3756-5

- Mouillot, D., Graham, N.A.J., Villéger, S., Mason, N.W.H., Bellwood, D.R., 2013. A functional approach reveals community responses to disturbances. Trends Ecol. Evol. 28, 167–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.10.004
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B., Kent, J., 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403, 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M.E., 2008. Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. Biol. Conserv. 141, 1461–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.04.011
- Olsson, E.G.A., Ouattara, S., 2013. Opportunities and challenges to capturing the multiple potential benefits of REDD+ in a traditional transnational savanna-woodland region in West Africa. Ambio. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-012-0362-6
- Overbeck, G.E., Vélez-Martin, E., Scarano, F.R., Lewinsohn, T.M., Fonseca, C.R., Meyer, S.T., Müller, S.C., Ceotto, P., Dadalt, L., Durigan, G., Ganade, G., Gossner, M.M., Guadagnin, D.L., Lorenzen, K., Jacobi, C.M., Weisser, W.W., Pillar, V.D., 2015. Conservation in Brazil needs to include non-forest ecosystems. Divers. Distrib. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12380
- Pacifici, M., Foden, W.B., Visconti, P., Watson, J.E.M., Butchart, S.H.M., Kovacs, K.M., Scheffers, B.R., Hole, D.G., Martin, T.G., Akçakaya, H.R., Corlett, R.T., Huntley, B., Bickford, D., Carr, J.A., Hoffmann, A.A., Midgley, G.F., Pearce-Kelly, P., Pearson, R.G., Williams, S.E., Willis, S.G., Young, B., Rondinini, C., 2015. Assessing species vulnerability to climate change. Nat. Clim. Chang. 5, 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2448
- Parmesan, C., 2006. Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 37, 637–669. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Parr, C.L., Lehmann, C.E.R., Bond, W.J., Hoffmann, W.A., Andersen, A.N., 2014. Tropical grassy biomes: misunderstood, neglected, and under threat. Trends Ecol. Evol. 29, 205– 213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.02.004
- Pecl, G.T., Araújo, M.B., Bell, J.D., Blanchard, J., Bonebrake, T.C., Chen, I.C., Clark, T.D., Colwell, R.K., Danielsen, F., Evengård, B., Falconi, L., Ferrier, S., Frusher, S., Garcia, R.A., Griffis, R.B., Hobday, A.J., Janion-Scheepers, C., Jarzyna, M.A., Jennings, S., Lenoir, J., Linnetved, H.I., Martin, V.Y., McCormack, P.C., McDonald, J., Mitchell, N.J., Mustonen, T., Pandolfi, J.M., Pettorelli, N., Popova, E., Robinson, S.A., Scheffers, B.R., Shaw, J.D., Sorte, C.J.B., Strugnell, J.M., Sunday, J.M., Tuanmu, M.N., Vergés, A., Villanueva, C., Wernberg, T., Wapstra, E., Williams, S.E., 2017. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. Science (80-. ). 355. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aai9214
- Petchey, O.L., Gaston, K.J., 2006. Functional diversity: back to basics and looking forward. Ecol. Lett. 9, 741–758. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00924.x
- Raine, E.H., Mikich, S.B., Lewis, O.T., Riordan, P., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Slade, E.M., 2018. Extinctions of interactions: quantifying a dung beetle–mammal network. Ecosphere 9,

e02491. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2491

- Raine, E.H., Slade, E.M., 2019. Dung beetle-mammal associations: Methods, research trends and future directions. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 286. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.2002
- Ratnam, J., Bond, W.J., Fensham, R.J., Hoffmann, W.A., Archibald, S., Lehmann, C.E.R., Anderson, M.T., Higgins, S.I., Sankaran, M., 2011. When is a 'forest' a savanna, and why does it matter? Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 653–660. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00634.x
- Ribeiro, J.F., Walter, B.M.T., 1998. Fitofisionomias do bioma Cerrado. In: Sano, S.M., Almeida, Cerrado : ambiente e flora. Embrapa-CPAC, Planaltina.
- Scholes, R.J., Archer, S.R., 1997. TREE-GRASS INTERACTIONS IN SAVANNAS. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 28, 517–544. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.28.1.517
- Sitters, J., Maechler, M., Edwards, P.J., Suter, W., Olde Venterink, H., 2014. Interactions between <scp>C</scp>: <scp>N</scp>: <scp>P</scp> stoichiometry and soil macrofauna control dung decomposition of savanna herbivores. Funct. Ecol. 28, 776–786. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12213
- Slade, E.M., Mann, D.J., Villanueva, J.F., Lewis, O.T., 2007. Experimental evidence for the effects of dung beetle functional group richness and composition on ecosystem function in a tropical forest. J. Anim. Ecol. 76, 1094–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01296.x
- Slade, E.M., Roslin, T., Santalahti, M., Bell, T., 2016. Disentangling the "brown world" faecal-detritus interaction web: Dung beetle effects on soil microbial properties. Oikos 125. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.02640
- Suarez-castro, F., Martinez-harms, M., Mitchell, M.G.E., Maron, M., Mcalpine, C., Gaston, K.J., Johansen, K., Rhodes, J.R., 2015. Reframing landscape fragmentation 's effects on ecosystem services 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.01.011
- Sy, V. De, Herold, M., Achard, F., Beuchle, R., Clevers, J.G.P.W., Lindquist, E., Verchot, L., 2015. Land use patterns and related carbon losses following deforestation in South America. Environ. Res. Lett. 10, 124004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124004
- Thomas, C.D.A.C., Green, R.E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L.J., Clooingham, Y.C., Erasmus, B.F.N., Siquieira, M.F. De, Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., Jaarsveld, A.S. Van, Midgley, G.F., Miles, L., Ortega-huerta, M.A., Peterson, A.T., Phillips, O.L., Williams, S.E., 2004. Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427, 145–148.
- Vieira, L., Louzada, J.N.C., Spector, S., 2008. Effects of Degradation and Replacement of Southern Brazilian Coastal Sandy Vegetation on the Dung Beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Biotropica 40, 719–727. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2008.00432.x
- Wu, X., Sun, S., 2010. The roles of beetles and flies in yak dung removal in an alpine meadow of eastern Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. Écoscience 17, 146–155.

https://doi.org/10.2980/17-2-3319

Zaloumis, N.P., Bond, W.J., 2011. Grassland restoration after afforestation: No direction home? Austral Ecol. 36, 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2010.02158.x

# **SEGUNDA PARTE - ARTIGOS**

# **ARTIGO 1**

Normas do periódico Ecological Indicators (versão preliminar)

# Cerrado conversion to pasture affects dung beetle community structure and functioning

Rafaella Maciel<sup>1</sup>, Rodrigo Braga<sup>2</sup>, Julio Louzada<sup>3</sup>, Eleanor Slade<sup>4</sup>

1. Departamento de Entomologia, Universidade Federal de Lavras, Lavras, Minas Gerais 37200-000, Brasil.

2. Universidade do Estado de Minas Gerais, Unidade Divinópolis, Minas Gerais 35501-170, Brasil

3. Departamento de Biologia, Setor de Ecologia, Universidade Federal de Lavras, Lavras, Minas Gerais 37200-000, Brasil

4. Asian School of the Environment, College of Science, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

# ABSTRACT

The replacement of natural systems with agriculture and livestock is the most important driver of land cover change in tropical regions, driven by population growth and increased demand for food. Tropical savannas cover more than 20% of the global land surface, and it is estimated that one-fifth of the world's population depends directly on these systems, making than one of the most impacted regions. The Brazilian Cerrado is the largest and richest tropical savanna, with a high rate of endemism, however it has been extensively cleared for agriculture and livestock. Here, we aim to understand how the conversion of savanna into pasture affects biodiversity and ecosystem functioning, using dung beetles as a study group. Dung beetles show habitat specificity and respond to changes in environmental conditions, and so are widely used as bioindicators. We collected dung beetles in six municipalities in the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil. In each municipality, three paired sites of Cerrado and pasture were selected. We used species diversity, richness, abundance, total biomass, and species composition as taxonomic parameters. To look at functional diversity changes, body mass, body mass-adjusted front leg area, body mass-adjusted pronotum volume, back:front leg lengths, and nesting strategy traits were used to calculate functional richness, equitability, dispersion indices, and functional composition. We found that conversion of savanna has a negative effect on both taxonomic and functional diversity metrics, causing a loss of species and functional richness and equitability, which will have knock-on effects for ecosystem functioning. Our results showed the importance of Cerrado habitat for biodiversity and the maintenance of ecosystem functioning.

**Key words:** Taxonomic diversity. Functional diversity. Morphological traits. Biodiversity conservation. Ecosystem functioning.

# **1. Introduction**

The increasing demand for food by human society has been the driving factor in the replacement of vast areas of natural systems with pasture and agricultural land across tropical regions (Aide et al., 2013; Houghton, 2012; Sy et al., 2015). This replacement leads to the erosion of biodiversity, affecting ecosystem functioning and the provision of ecological services crucial to human well-being (Braga et al., 2013; Cardinale et al., 2012; Foley, 2005; Suarez-castro et al., 2015). The conversion of natural lands into cattle pastures has been shown to have large impacts in forested systems due to the abrupt shift of vegetation-covered areas to open-sunny systems with little or no arboreal cover (Ratnam et al., 2011). However, it has been suggested that for many naturally open systems, such as tropical savannas, this land use conversion will only result in subtle changes, and the degradation of the system and concurrent loss of biodiversity and functioning will be less visible than in forested systems (Zaloumis and Bond, 2011; also see Parr et al., 2014).

It is estimated that one-fifth of the global human population depends directly on tropical savanna systems for their livelihoods, including the use of uncleared lands for grazing, fuel wood, food, and medicinal plants (Lehmann et al., 2009; Olsson and Ouattara, 2013). Despite this, the value of the biodiversity of tropical savannas is poorly known (Murphy et al., 2016). In particular, savannas and grasslands in the Neotropical region have the highest concentrations of ranged-restricted vertebrates making them particularly important for biodiversity conservation (Murphy et al., 2016). The Brazilian Cerrado is the largest and most biodiversity rich savanna, with high rates of endemism. It is also one of the most threatened tropical savannas, and is considered an important hotspot for biodiversity (Myers et al., 2000). This biome covers around 2 million km<sup>2</sup>, forming a mosaic of many vegetation physiognomies such as grasslands, woodlands and riparian forests, comprising a complex and heterogeneous landscape (Ribeiro and Walter, 1998). Nevertheless, the Cerrado has been extensively cleared for agriculture and livestock, with more than half of the land area lost in the past 50 years (Beuchle et al., 2015; Overbeck et al., 2015).

The negative effects caused by anthropogenic impacts on the Cerrado's biodiversity is well documented (Almeida et al., 2011; Arcoverde et al., 2017; de Queiroz et al., 2017; Lemes et al., 2019). However, there are few studies that link the loss of biodiversity to the functioning of the Cerrado ecosystem (Correa et al., 2019b; Lehmann and Parr, 2016). In the last decade, studies using functional metrics to complement the taxonomic approach to

quantifying the biodiversity response to anthropogenic change has increased (Barragán et al., 2011; Beiroz et al., 2018; Elmqvist et al., 2003; Gagic et al., 2015). The inclusion of functional approaches in ecological studies has allowed a greater understanding of the mechanisms that drive the responses of biodiversity to ecosystem changes (Beiroz et al., 2018; Mouillot et al., 2013; Petchey and Gaston, 2006). Moreover, some studies have suggested that using functional metrics better predicts functioning of the ecosystem than traditional species-based indices (Gagic et al., 2015). However, these functional diversity approaches are often derived from categorical trait information (Beiroz et al., 2019; Braga et al., 2013; Slade et al., 2007), without accounting for morphological traits, which risks a loss of information (Griffiths et al., 2015; Petchey and Gaston, 2006; but see Raine et al., 2018a).

Here we used dung beetle taxonomic indices (species richness, abundance of individuals, total biomass, and species composition), and functional indices parameters based on morphological and behavioural traits (functional richness, evenness and dispersion, and functional composition) to evaluate the effects of conversion of the Cerrado into introduced cattle pastures. Dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) are widely used as bioindicator species as they show habitat specificity, and are responsive to changes in environmental conditions (Audino et al., 2014; Bicknell et al., 2014; Costa et al., 2017; Halffter and Arellano, 2002). They are also tightly linked to vertebrate communities through their reliance on dung for feeding and breeding, and so can be used to study the cascading effects of habitat change (Gillett et al., 2016; Griffiths et al., 2015; Raine et al., 2018b; Raine and Slade, 2019; Vieira et al., 2008). Conversion of tropical savannas to cattle pastures has been shown to increase the populations of some dung beetle species, resulting in overall lower species richness but a higher total biomass, due to an increase in food resources, and abundances of some species (Tonelli et al., 2018). However, there are only few studies evaluating the impacts of this conversion on dung beetle functional diversity.

Here, we aim to answer the following questions:

1) Does conversion of Cerrado to cattle pasture result in a loss of species richness, abundance, and total biomass of dung beetles and changes in community composition? Due to the high availability of food resources, we hypothesize that cattle pastures can maintain the abundance and biomass of dung beetles, but that richness will decline, and community composition change, due to vegetation oversimplification resulting in the loss of some more specialised species.

2) Does conversion of Cerrado to cattle pasture cause a loss of functional diversity, leading to ecosystem simplification? Despite the maintenance of a high abundance and biomass of beetles, we hypothesize that the distribution of functional traits will be negatively affected, and functional diversity will decline as species are lost, resulting in changes in the functional composition of the community.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Study site

The study was conduct in a tropical savanna (Cerrado *sensu stricto*) in Minas Gerais State – Brazil (Fig. 1). Six municipalities were selected (minimum of 100 km apart): Januária, São Romão, Arinos, Unaí, Paracatu and Formiga  $(15^{\circ}27'13.45'' - 20^{\circ}33'52.19''S, 44^{\circ}43''59.77'' - 46^{\circ}53'41.65''W)$ . The altitude ranges from 471 to 882 m. The climate of the Cerrado biome is classified as rainy tropical (Aw – Köppen classification) but varies considerably. The average annual temperature ranges from 18° to 28°C, and rainfall, from 800 to 2.000 mm, with a very strong dry season from April to September, the southern winter (Oliveira-Filho and Ratter, 2002; Ribeiro and Walter, 1998).

The Cerrado in Minas Gerais State is an important livestock region and the bovine herd has been increasing since 1980's. This has had direct consequences on the land use in this region and in the last 30 years, as exotic grasses (*Urochloa* spp.) have been introduced to increase the carrying capacity of cattle (Cavalcanti and Joly, 2002; Martha and Vilela, 2002).



**Fig. 1** Study area map showing A) the study region - Minas Gerais State, Brazil; B) the municipalities in Minas Gerais State, Arinos, Formiga and Januária; and C) the transect with pitfall traps baited with 30 g of human faeces, and 500 g of cow dung.

# 2.2 Dung beetle data

We sampled the dung beetle community in 2016 during the wet season, the period of greatest activity of these beetles in tropical ecosystems (Halffter, 1991). In each of the six municipalities we selected three sites at least 3 km apart, in each of two land use types: Cerrado *sensu stricto* and exotic cattle pasture (*Urochloa* spp.), totalling 36 samples sites. At each site, we placed a transect with five sample points with two pitfall traps, separated by 3 m, one baited with 30 g of human faeces, and the other with 500 g of fresh cow dung (Fig. 1C), in order to sample as much of the local dung beetle community as possible. The pitfalls were arranged in a 200 m linear array, with sampling points aligned 50 m apart, totalling 10 pitfalls in each transect. Pitfall traps consisted of plastic containers (19 cm diameter and 11 cm deep), which were partially filled with a saline solution and detergent. Each trap was protected from rain with a plastic lid suspended 20 cm above the surface. Contents of the trap were collected after 48 hours.

Dung beetle specimens were transported in 80% alcohol from the field to the laboratory – Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Invertebrados at Universidade Federal de Lavras (LECIN - UFLA), then sorted, dried in drying oven (40°C) for 72h or until they are completely dried, and stored in paper envelopes. We identified the dung beetles using a key to the genera and subgenera of subfamily Scarabaeinae of the New World (Vaz-de-Mello et al., 2011), the reference collection at Coleção de Referência de Escarabeíneos Neotropicais (CREN – UFLA), and confimed identifications with Dr. Fernando Z. Vaz-de-Melo at Universidade Federal do Mato Grosso (UFMT). Voucher specimens were deposited at CREN - UFLA in Minas Gerais State, Brazil.

#### **2.3 Dung beetle traits**

To determine dung beetle morphological traits, we follow the methodology proposed by Griffiths et al. (2015). We measured pronotum area, front tibia and femur area, and front and back leg length using ImageJ software with photographs obtained using a stereomicroscope Leica M205 A (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). These traits were chosen since they were directly related to the functions performed by dung beetles (Table 1). We measured pronotum height with digital callipers (0.01 mm resolution); and dry body mass using a Shimadzu AY220 balance (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan) with a precision of 0.0001 g. All traits were measured from 20 randomly selected individuals (or the maximum number available), to obtain a mean value for each species. Front tibia and femur area were summed to provide a total front leg area, and pronotum height and area were multiplied to estimate pronotum volume. As these traits were significantly collinear with body mass, we divided front leg area and pronotum volume by the dry body mass of the same individual (body massadjusted traits). Then, we transformed the body mass-adjusted front leg and pronotum volume to the residual of the linear relationship between these traits and body mass so these variables were uncorrelated. Back leg length was divided by front leg length to obtain a ratio (back:front leg length). The morphological traits body mass, body mass -adjusted front leg area, body mass -adjusted pronotum volume, and back:front leg lengths were then used in the calculation of the multi-trait diversity metrics described below. We also included the categorical trait - nesting strategy obtained from the literature: (i) rollers, which roll portions of dung away from the dung pile in small balls; (ii) tunnelers, which take a small portion of the dung and bury it directly below or around the dung pile; and (iii) dwellers, which nest inside the dung (Halffter and Matthews, 1966).

Functional trait	Functional meaning	Measurement	Relationship with ecological function *
Body-mass (BM)	Size	Dry body-mass	Dung removal and burial amount
BM-adjusted front leg area	Front leg robustness	Front tibia and femur area/BM of that species	Digging ability and dung burial
BM-adjusted pronotum volume	Pronotum robustness	Pronotum area x pronotum height/BM of that species	Muscle tissue accommodation related to digging ability
back:front leg lengths	back:front leg size	Back leg length/front leg length	Capability of dung ball construction and rolling
Nesting strategy	Resource allocation strategy	Rollers, tunnelers or dwellers	How resource is removed and soil is excavated

**Table 1** Functional traits with an explanation of functional meaning and measurement taken, and their relationship with ecological functions.

\* (Halffter and Edmonds, 1982)

# **2.4 Diversity metrics calculations**

Species richness was calculated as the number of different species at each site, the abundance as the sum of the number of individuals of each species in each site, and total biomass was calculated by multiplying the mean mass of each species by its abundance and summed at each sites. As total biomass was significantly collinear with abundance, we transformed the biomass to the residual of the linear relationship between biomass and abundance making both variables uncorrelated, and we refer to this as biomassR.

We calculate three functional diversity indices using five traits (body mass, body mass-adjusted front leg area, body mass-adjusted pronotum volume, back:front leg length, and nesting strategy) in the FD package (Laliberté et al., 2012) in R 3.5.2 (R Development Core Team 2018). The traits were given equal weighting and species were weighted by their relative abundance. The chosen indices were: (1) functional richness (FRic) - the range of traits in a community quantified by the volume of functional trait space occupied; (2) functional evenness (FEve) - the regularity in spacing and abundances of species in trait space; and (3) functional dispersion (FDis) - the distribution of abundances in trait space relative to an abundance-weighted centroid, and the volume of space occupied (Laliberté and Legendre, 2010).

To calculate functional composition, we created functional groups to categorise species with similar morphological traits. We obtained the mean value of each morphological trait for each species and then categorized it as very small (VS), small (S), medium (M), large (L) and very large (VL) by calculating the 95% and 99% confidence intervals (CI) (see Table S1). Species with trait sizes below the 99% CI were classified as VS, within the 99-95% CI as S, at the 95% CI as M, between 95-99% as L, and those above the 99% CI as VL. We determined the functional composition at each site using the abundance of distinct functional groups present in each site.

# 2.5 Statistical analyses

### 2.5.1 Taxonomic diversity

In order to compare the species diversity patterns in the two different land uses, and to verify the sample effort efficacy, we calculated species accumulation curves based on the number of individuals collected, extrapolating the number of individuals to the mean abundance value of the systems. The extrapolation curves were generated using iNEXT (Interpolation and extrapolation for species diversity) package (Chao and Jost, 2012; Hsieh et al., 2013). A hundred bootstrap replications were used to estimate 95% confidence intervals.

To evaluate the effects of land use on the taxonomic diversity of dung beetles, we ran generalised linear mixed-effect models (GLMM) using a Poisson distribution for species richness, a negative binomial distribution for individual abundance, and a Gaussian distribution for biomassR. We considered municipalities as random effects, land use type as the explanatory variable and species richness, abundance and biomassR as response variables.

#### 2.5.2 Functional diversity

To evaluate the effects of land use system on the functional diversity of dung beetles, we ran linear mixed-effect models with a Gaussian distribution. We considered municipalities as random effects, land use type as the explanatory variable and FRic, FEve and FDis as response variables. All these analyses were performed in R software version 3.5.2 (R Development Core Team 2018) using the "lme4" package (Bates et al., 2015).

#### 2.5.3 Taxonomic and functional composition

To assess taxonomic and functional composition in the different land uses, spatial differences in dung beetle communities and functional groups in the two different land use systems were verified using Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (nMDS), based on a Jaccard similarity matrix, with data standardized by square root transformation. We used permutation variance multivariate analysis (PERMANOVA) to measure the statistical differences in taxonomic and functional composition among the two land uses, using the software Primer v.6 with PERMANOVA + (Clarke and Gorley, 2006).

# 3. Results

#### **3.1 Taxonomic diversity**

We collected 33,681 individuals of 114 dung beetle species (see Table S1 for species list, mean traits values, and abundances). In the Cerrado we recorded 9,704 individuals of 103 species, and in cattle pasture 23,977 individuals of 59 species. In the Cerrado, 55 species only occurred in this system (53.4%) and 27 (26.21%) were rare species (singletons or doubletons). In cattle pastures, 11 species were exclusive to that land use (18.64%) and 28 were rare species (47.45%). The Cerrado sites presented the highest species richness, and species accumulation curves reached their asymptote, indicating that our sampling provided a good representation of the overall dung beetle community (Fig. 2). Mean species richness was higher in the Cerrado (n = 36, d.f. = 3,  $\chi^2 = 74.01$ , p <0.01) than in cattle pasture (Fig. 3A),

and there was no difference in abundance (n = 36, d.f. = 4,  $\chi^2$  = 0.18, p = 0.66) and biomassR between land uses (n = 36, d.f. = 4,  $\chi^2$  = 0.94, p = 0.33) (Figs. 3B and C).

#### **3.2 Functional diversity**

Cerrado presented the highest functional richness (n = 35, d.f. = 4,  $\chi^2$  = 41.79, p <0.001) and functional evenness (n = 35, d.f. = 4,  $\chi^2$  = 4.85, p = 0.02) (Figs. 3D and E). There was no difference in functional dispersion between Cerrado and cattle pasture (n = 36, d.f. = 4,  $\chi^2$  = 0.006, p = 0.93) (Fig. 3F).

#### 3.3 Taxonomic and functional composition

The two land uses differed in terms of taxonomic (Fig. 4A) and functional composition (Fig. 4B), (PERMANOVA, d.f. = 5, Pseudo-F = 1.78; p = 0.002; d.f. = 5, Pseudo-F = 3.32 and p = 0.004 respectively).



**Fig. 2** Extrapolation curves based on the number of dung beetle individuals collected in Cerrado (red line) and cattle pasture (blue line) from 36 collection sites in Minas Gerais State, Brazil. The dotted line indicates the extrapolation value and the shading indicates the 95% confidence intervals.



**Fig. 3** Differences in A) species richness; B) abundance; C) biomassR (abundance-adjusted total biomass); D) functional richness; E) functional evenness; and F) functional dispersion of dung beetles between Cerrado and cattle pasture land uses.



**Fig. 4** Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (nMDS) based on the Jaccard distance matrix of A) abundance of dung beetles species; and B) abundance of dung beetles functional groups in each land use. Black circles = Cerrado and open circles = cattle pasture

#### 4. Discussion

We show that despite maintaining dung beetle abundance and biomass, the conversion of neotropical savannas (Cerrado) into cattle pastures causes a reduction in species and functional richness. We find that both species and functional composition changed as a result of land use change, in part because of a loss of functional traits in cattle pasture habitats. This could lead to community simplification and consequently a loss of ecosystem functionality. Our findings contribute to the understanding of the effects of Cerrado conversion to introduced cattle pastures on dung beetle communities and their associated functions. As cattle pastures expand across the tropics, and increasing encroach on the remaining savannah ecosystems, it is important to document the potential changes that will occur, both for biodiversity and the ecosystem functions associated with it.

## 4.1 Taxonomic diversity

We observed a loss of species richness in cattle pastures when compared to savannas. Otherwise, there was no significant change in abundance and total biomass. Dung beetle assemblage organization in tropical regions is influenced by vegetation cover and vegetation type (Audino et al., 2014; Halffter and Arellano, 2002; Hanski and Cambefort, 1991), in particular land use heterogeneity (Costa et al., 2017; Lobo and Martín-Piera, 2002). In addition, dung beetles are dependent on the vertebrate fauna, especially large mammals, for feeding and breeding (Barlow et al., 2010; Estrada et al., 1999; Nichols et al., 2013). Studies on the effects of habitat change on dung beetles in tropical forests have shown that species richness, abundance of individuals, and biomass can be reduced with fragmentation, disturbance, and environmental simplification (Braga et al., 2013; Correa et al., 2016; Korasaki et al., 2013). In contrast, cattle pastures are simpler and hostile environments compared to native systems, because they have more compacted soils, due to the presence of livestock (Tonelli et al., 2018; Vries et al., 2007). Despite that, pastures are abundant in food resources due to the constant presence of cattle, which may favour the persistence of large populations of certain disturbance tolerant species, and thus a high overall biomass of dung beetles (Lobo, 2006; Tonelli et al., 2018; Halffter et al., 1992; Navarrete and Halffter, 2008).

Despite having low species richness, some species present in cattle pasture had a high abundance of individuals, such as *Genieridium cryptops* (Arrow, 1913) (10,719 individuals), *Dichotomius geminatus* (Arrow, 1913) (5,622), *Trichillum heydeni* Harold, 1868 (1,776), *Ontherus appendiculatus* (Mannerheim, 1829) (1,646), *Ateuchus frontalis* (Boucomont, 1928) (1,038) and *Digitonthophagus gazella* (Fabricius, 1787) (1,033). All these species also occurred on Cerrado, and three of them also had the highest abundance in this system as well (*G. cryptops*, *O. appendiculatus*, *A. frontalis* with 2,196; 537 and 517 respectively) (see table
S1). *D. gazella* is a South African dung beetle with a high invasion potential which has been introduced in several countries due to its potential to bury faeces and control fly populations (see Filho et al., 2018). This species was introduced to Brazil in the 1990's by EMBRAPA (Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation) to control the horn fly (*Haematobia irritans irritans* Linnaeus, 1758) and gastrointestinal nematodes of cattle. Currently, *D. gazella* is present in all states of Brazil (Tissiani et al., 2017) and has been recorded in almost all countries in Central and South America, from Mexico to Uruguay (Filho et al., 2018; Matavelli and Louzada, 2008; Noriega et al., 2017, 2010; Rivera and Wolff, 2007; Vidaurre and Noriega, 2008).

#### 4.2 Functional diversity

Besides having lower species richness, cattle pastures also lost functional characteristics compared to native savanna systems. Functional diversity indices have been studied in tropical forest systems with conflicting results. The loss of functional richness when habitats change has been demonstrated for dung beetle communities in tropical forests (Audino et al., 2014; Barragán et al., 2011; Griffiths et al., 2015), although other studies have found no changes in functional diversity metrics (e.g. Beiroz et al., 2018). However, in Cerrado systems there is little knowledge about the effects of habitats change on functional diversity indices, only been found no changes in functional diversity metrics until now (Correa et al., 2019b). Here, we found that when Cerrado is converted to cattle pasture there is a loss of functional richness (FRic) and evenness (FEve), indicating that abundances in pasture are less evenly distributed among species or functional distances among species are less regular (Villéger et al., 2010). We also found that species and functional richness decreased when savanna was converted to cattle pasture. This causes a shift in functional space by removing species with traits that are poorly adapted to the new environment and allowing colonization by better-adapted species (Mouillot et al., 2013).

The loss of functional diversity observed in our study was probably due to the loss of morphological traits in the pasture systems (see Fig. S2). This in turn suggests that functions performed by the beetles (such as dung removal and soil bioturbation) could be affected. However, further work is need to see if this is the case or if these functions are be maintained through density-compensation (Correa et al., 2019a). Current concerns about the decline of dung beetles are particularly focused on large-bodied species, which have been suggested to be both the most extinction-prone (Larsen et al., 2008) and the most functionally efficient

(Lähteenmäki et al., 2015; Larsen and Forsyth, 2005). We found a dominance of small-bodied species in pasture areas and a loss of the larger species (Fig. S2 A and B), as has been observed in previous studies (Filho et al., 2018; Nichols et al., 2007; Scheffler, 2005). This suggests that it is the larger bodied species that are most affected when Cerrado is converted to cattle pasture.

#### **4.3 Taxonomic and functional composition**

We found that both the taxonomic and functional composition of dung beetle communities were altered when Cerrado was replaced with cattle pastures. Pastures can cause changes in vegetation structural heterogeneity, and habitat diversity, leading to more homogeneous and simplified environments (Vries et al., 2007). In addition, cattle pastures have altered environmental conditions, such as soil compaction, temperature increases and humidity decreases, which can affect the species composition of the dung beetle community (Correa et al., 2019b; Costa et al., 2017; Halffter and Arellano, 2002).

# 4.4 Final considerations

Many studies have estimated the conservation value of ecosystems using taxonomic or functional diversity, although it is only recently that they have been assessed together (e.g. Baiser and Lockwood, 2011; Beiroz et al., 2018; Moretti et al., 2009; Villéger et al., 2010). Here, we investigated the effects of the conversion of Cerrado, an important tropical savanna, into cattle pasture on dung beetles taxonomic and functional diversity. We used species morphological traits to calculate functional diversity parameters for the first time in Cerrado systems. We conclude that the change of land use causes a negative effect on both taxonomic and functional metrics, causing loss of dung beetle richness and morphological traits, leading to a loss of functional diversity, which could affect associated ecosystem functioning. In addition, we emphasize the importance of using both taxonomic and functional metrics as they give complementary responses.

In agricultural systems, dung beetles play an important role by contributing to many ecological processes, including nutrient cycling, soil aeration, reducing greenhouse gases emissions, secondary seed burial, increasing primary productivity, and suppressing parasites of livestock (Manning and Cutler, 2018; Nichols et al., 2008; Slade et al., 2016). Thus, maintaining fully functional dung beetle communities is central to maintaining ecosystem

functioning. Our findings emphasize the importance of conservation the Cerrado ecosystem, both for the maintenance of biodiversity and for ecosystem functioning.

# Acknowledgements

We thank the farmers for allowing our fieldwork to take place on their properties. Julius Cerqueira and Glauco Oliveira for support during fieldwork. Fernando Vaz-de-Mello for help with dung beetle identification. Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) for funding the project (CRA/APQ 02870/2014). RM thanks Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) for the PhD scholarship in Brazil.

#### References

- Aide, T.M., Clark, M.L., Grau, H.R., López-Carr, D., Levy, M.A., Redo, D., Bonilla-Moheno, M., Riner, G., Andrade-Núñez, M.J., Muñiz, M., 2013. Deforestation and Reforestation of Latin America and the Caribbean (2001-2010). Biotropica 45, 262–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2012.00908.x
- Almeida, S., Louzada, J., Sperber, C., Barlow, J., 2011. Subtle Land-Use Change and Tropical Biodiversity: Dung Beetle Communities in Cerrado Grasslands and Exotic Pastures. Biotropica 43, 704–710. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2011.00751.x
- Arcoverde, G.B., Andersen, A.N., Setterfield, S.A., 2017. Is livestock grazing compatible with biodiversity conservation? Impacts on savanna ant communities in the Australian seasonal tropics. Biodivers. Conserv. 26, 883–897. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-016-1277-5
- Audino, L.D., Louzada, J., Comita, L., 2014. Dung beetles as indicators of tropical forest restoration success: Is it possible to recover species and functional diversity? Biol. Conserv. 169, 248–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.11.023
- Baiser, B., Lockwood, J.L., 2011. The relationship between functional and taxonomic homogenization. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 134–144. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00583.x
- Barlow, J., Louzada, J., Parry, L., Hernández, M.I.M., Hawes, J., Peres, C.A., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Gardner, T.A., 2010. Improving the design and management of forest strips in human-dominated tropical landscapes: A field test on Amazonian dung beetles. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 779–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01825.x
- Barragán, F., Moreno, C.E., Escobar, F., Halffter, G., Navarrete, D., 2011. Negative Impacts of Human Land Use on Dung Beetle Functional Diversity. PLoS One 6, e17976. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017976
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beiroz, W., Barlow, J., Slade, E.M., Borges, C., Louzada, J., Sayer, E.J., 2019. Biodiversity in

tropical plantations is influenced by surrounding native vegetation but not yield: A case study with dung beetles in Amazonia. For. Ecol. Manage. 444, 107–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.04.036

- Beiroz, W., Sayer, E., Slade, E.M., Audino, L., Braga, R.F., Louzada, J., Barlow, J., 2018. Spatial and temporal shifts in functional and taxonomic diversity of dung beetles in a human-modified tropical forest landscape. Ecol. Indic. 95, 518–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.07.062
- Beuchle, R., Grecchi, R.C., Shimabukuro, Y.E., Seliger, R., Eva, H.D., Sano, E., Achard, F., 2015. Land cover changes in the Brazilian Cerrado and Caatinga biomes from 1990 to 2010 based on a systematic remote sensing sampling approach. Appl. Geogr. 58, 116– 127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.01.017
- Bicknell, J.E., Phelps, S.P., Davies, R.G., Mann, D.J., Struebig, M.J., Davies, Z.G., 2014. Dung beetles as indicators for rapid impact assessments: Evaluating best practice forestry in the neotropics. Ecol. Indic. 43, 154–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.02.030
- Braga, R.F., Korasaki, V., Andresen, E., Louzada, J., 2013. Dung Beetle Community and Functions along a Habitat-Disturbance Gradient in the Amazon: A Rapid Assessment of Ecological Functions Associated to Biodiversity. PLoS One 8, e57786. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057786
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani,
  A., MacE, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M.,
  Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S., Naeem, S., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486, 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148
- Cavalcanti, B., Joly, C., 2002. Biodiversity and conservation priorities in the cerrado region.In: Oliveira, P. M. R. (Ed.). The Cerrados of Brazil ecology and natural history of a neotropical savanna. New York: Columbia University, 351-368
- Chao, A., Jost, L., 2012. Coverage-based rarefaction and extrapolation: standardizing samples by completeness rather than size. Ecology 93, 2533–2547. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1952.1

Clarke, K.R., Gorley, R.N., 2006. PRIMER v6: User Manual/Tutorial (Plymouth Routines in

Multivariate Ecological Research). PRIMER-E, Plymouth

- Correa, C.M.A., Braga, R.F., Louzada, J., Menéndez, R., 2019a. Dung beetle diversity and functions suggest no major impacts of cattle grazing in the Brazilian Pantanal wetlands. Ecol. Entomol. https://doi.org/10.1111/een.12729
- Correa, C.M.A., Braga, R.F., Puker, A., Korasaki, V., 2019b. Patterns of taxonomic and functional diversity of dung beetles in a human-modified variegated landscape in Brazilian Cerrado. J. Insect Conserv. 23, 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-018-00118-6
- Correa, C.M.A., Puker, A., Ferreira, K.R., Cristaldo, C.M., Ferreira, F.N.F., Abot, A.R., Korasaki, V., 2016. Using dung beetles to evaluate the conversion effects from native to introduced pasture in the Brazilian Pantanal. J. Insect Conserv. 20, 447–456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-016-9877-7
- Costa, C., Oliveira, V.H.F., Maciel, R., Beiroz, W., Korasaki, V., Louzada, J., 2017. Variegated tropical landscapes conserve diverse dung beetle communities. PeerJ 5, e3125. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3125
- de Queiroz, A.C.M., Rabello, A.M., Braga, D.L., Santiago, G.S., Zurlo, L.F., Philpott, S.M., Ribas, C.R., 2017. Cerrado vegetation types determine how land use impacts ant biodiversity. Biodivers. Conserv. 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-017-1379-8
- Elmqvist, T., Folke, C., Nyström, M., Peterson, G., Bengtsson, J., Walker, B., Norberg, J., 2003. Response diversity, ecosystem change, and resilience. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1, 488–492. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2003)001[0488:RDECAR]2.0.CO;2
- Estrada, A., Anzures D., A., Coates-Estrada, R., 1999. Tropical rain forest fragmentation, howler monkeys (Alouatta palliata), and dung beetles at Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. Am. J. Primatol. 48, 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2345(1999)48:4<253::AID-AJP1>3.0.CO;2-D
- Filho, W.M., Flechtmann, C.A.H., Godoy, W.A.C., Bjornstad, O.N., 2018. The impact of the introduced Digitonthophagus gazella on a native dung beetle community in Brazil during 26 years. Biol. Invasions 20, 963–979. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-017-1603-1

- Foley, J.A., 2005. Global Consequences of Land Use. Science (80-. ). 309, 570–574. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1111772
- Gagic, V., Bartomeus, I., Jonsson, T., Taylor, A., Winqvist, C., Fischer, C., Slade, E.M.,
  Steffan-Dewenter, I., Emmerson, M., Potts, S.G., Tscharntke, T., Weisser, W.,
  Bommarco, R., 2015. Functional identity and diversity of animals predict ecosystem
  functioning better than species-based indices. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 282, 20142620–
  20142620. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2620
- Gillett, C.P.D.T., Johnson, A.J., Barr, I., Hulcr, J., 2016. Metagenomic sequencing of dung beetle intestinal contents directly detects and identifies mammalian fauna. bioRxiv Prepr. 074849. https://doi.org/10.1101/074849
- Griffiths, A.D., Garnett, S.T., Brook, B.W., 2015. Fire frequency matters more than fire size: Testing the pyrodiversity-biodiversity paradigm for at-risk small mammals in an Australian tropical savanna. Biol. Conserv. 186, 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.03.021
- Griffiths, H.M., Louzada, J., Bardgett, R.D., Beiroz, W., França, F., Tregidgo, D., Barlow, J., 2015. Biodiversity and environmental context predict dung beetle-mediated seed dispersal in a tropical forest field experiment. Ecology 96, 1607–1619. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1211.1
- Halffter, G., 1991. Historical and ecological factors determining the geographical distribution of beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae). Biogeogr. – J. Integr. Biogeogr. 15. https://doi.org/10.21426/B615110376
- Halffter, G., Arellano, L., 2002. Response of Dung Beetle Diversity to Human-induced Changes in a Tropical Landscape1. Biotropica 34, 144–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2002.tb00250.x
- Halffter, G., Edmonds, W.D., 1982. The Nesting Behavior of Dung Beetles. Inst. Ecol. 1–155. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0484-130
- Halffter, G.; Favilla, M. E.; Halffter, V. Comparative studies on the structure of scarab guild in tropical rain forest. Folia Entomologica Mexicana, Mexico, v. 84, p. 131-156, 1992.

- Halffter, G., Matthews, E.G., 1966. the Natural History of Dung Beetles. Rev. Latinoam. Microbiol. 12, 147–164.
- Hanski, I.; Cambefort, Y. Dung beetle ecology. Princeton: Princeton University, 1991. 520 p.
- Houghton, R., 2012. Carbon emissions and the drivers of deforestation and forest degradation in the tropics. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 4, 597–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2012.06.006
- Hsieh, T.C., Ma, K.H., Chao, A., 2013. iNEXT: an R package for interpolation and extrapolation of species diversity (Hill numbers) Methods in Ecology and Evolution7(12):1451-1456. https://doi-org.ez26.periodicos.capes.gov.br/10.1111/2041-210X.12613
- Korasaki, V., Lopes, J., Gardner Brown, G., Louzada, J., 2013. Using dung beetles to evaluate the effects of urbanization on Atlantic Forest biodiversity. Insect Sci. 20, 393–406. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7917.2012.01509.x
- Lähteenmäki, S., Slade, E.M., Hardwick, B., Schiffler, G., Louzada, J., Barlow, J., Roslin, T., 2015. MESOCLOSURES - increasing realism in mesocosm studies of ecosystem functioning. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 916–924. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12367
- Laliberté, E., Legendre, P., 2010. A distance-based framework for measuring functional diversity from multiple traits. Ecology 91, 299–305. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-2244.1
- Laliberté, E., Shipley, B., Laliberté, M.E., 2012. Measuring functional diversity (FD) from multiple traits, and other 1618 HANNAH M. GRIFFITHS ET AL. Ecology, Vol. 96, No. 6 tools for functional ecology. http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/FD/
- Larsen, T.H., Forsyth, A., 2005. Trap spacing and transect design for dung beetle biodiversity studies. Biotropica 37, 322–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2005.00042.x
- Larsen, T.H., Lopera, A., Forsyth, A., 2008. Understanding Trait-Dependent Community Disassembly: Dung Beetles, Density Functions, and Forest Fragmentation. Conserv. Biol. 22, 1288–1298. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00969.x
- Lehmann, C.E.R., Parr, C.L., 2016. Tropical grassy biomes: linking ecology, human use and conservation. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 371, 20160329.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0329

- Lehmann, C.E.R., Ratnam, J., Hutley, L.B., 2009. Which of these continents is not like the other? Comparisons of tropical savanna systems: Key questions and challenges. New Phytol. 181, 508–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02734.x
- Lemes, L., de Andrade, A.F.A., Loyola, R., 2019. Spatial priorities for agricultural development in the Brazilian Cerrado: may economy and conservation coexist? Biodivers. Conserv. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01719-6
- Lobo, J.M., 2006. Molecular dating of phylogenetic trees: A brief review of current methods that estimate divergence times. Divers. Distrib. 12, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1366-9516.2006.00210.x
- Lobo, J.M., Martín-Piera, F., 2002. Searching for a predictive model for species richness of Iberian dung beetle based on spatial and environmental variables. Conserv. Biol. 16, 158–173. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00211.x
- Manning, P., Cutler, G.C., 2018. Agriculture , Ecosystems and Environment Ecosystem functioning is more strongly impaired by reducing dung beetle abundance than by reducing species richness. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 264, 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.05.002
- Martha, G.B.J., Vilela, L., 2002. Pastagens no Cerrado : Baixa Produtividade pelo Pastagens no Cerrado : Embrapa Cerrados 30.
- Matavelli, R.A., Louzada, J.N.C., 2008. Invasão de áreas de savana intra-amazônicas por Digitonthophagus gazella (Fabricius, 1787) (Insecta: Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Acta Amaz. 38, 153–158. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0044-59672008000100017
- Moretti, M., De Bello, F., Roberts, S.P.M., Potts, S.G., 2009. Taxonomical vs. functional responses of bee communities to fire in two contrasting climatic regions. J. Anim. Ecol. 78, 98–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01462.x
- Mouillot, D., Graham, N.A.J., Villéger, S., Mason, N.W.H., Bellwood, D.R., 2013. A functional approach reveals community responses to disturbances. Trends Ecol. Evol. 28, 167–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.10.004

- Murphy, B.P., Andersen, A.N., Parr, C.L., 2016. The underestimated biodiversity of tropical grassy biomes. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 371, 20150319. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0319
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B., Kent, J., 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403, 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501
- Navarrete, D., Halffter, G., 2008. Dung beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae) diversity in continuous forest, forest fragments and cattle pastures in a landscape of Chiapas, Mexico: the effects of anthropogenic changes. Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 2869– 2898. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-008-9402-8
- Nichols, E., Larsen, T., Spector, S., Davis, A.L., Escobar, F., Favila, M., Vulinec, K., 2007. Global dung beetle response to tropical forest modification and fragmentation: A quantitative literature review and meta-analysis. Biol. Conserv. 137, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.01.023
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M.E., 2008.
  Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles.
  Biol. Conserv. 141, 1461–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.04.011
- Nichols, E., Uriarte, M., Bunker, D.E., Favila, M.E., Slade, E.M., Vulinec, K., Larsen, T., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Louzada, J., Naeem, S., Spector, S.H., 2013. Trait-dependent response of dung beetle populations to tropical forest conversion at local and regional scales. Ecology 94, 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-0251.1
- Noriega, J.A., Delgado, O., Blanco, J.I., Gámez, J., Clavijo, J., 2017. Introduction,
  Establishment, and Invasion of Digitonthophagus gazella (Fabricius, 1787) (Coleoptera: Scarabaeinae) in the Savannas of Venezuela and Colombia. Nat. Resour. 08, 370–381.
  https://doi.org/10.4236/nr.2017.85023
- Noriega, J.A., Horgan, F.G., Larsen, T.H., Valencia, G., 2010. Records of an Invasive Dung Beetle Species, Digitonthophagus Gazella (Fabricius, 1787) (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae), in Peru. Acta Zool. Mex. 26, 451–456

Oliveira-Filho, A., Ratter, J., 2002. Vegetation physiognomies and woody flora of the cerrado

biome. In: Oliveira, P., Marquis, R. (Ed.). The Cerrados of Brazil ecology and natural history of a neotropical savanna. New York: Columbia University. p. 91-121

- Olsson, E.G.A., Ouattara, S., 2013. Opportunities and Challenges to Capturing the Multiple Potential Benefits of REDD+ in a Traditional Transnational Savanna-Woodland Region in West Africa. Ambio 42, 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-012-0362-6
- Overbeck, G.E., Vélez-Martin, E., Scarano, F.R., Lewinsohn, T.M., Fonseca, C.R., Meyer, S.T., Müller, S.C., Ceotto, P., Dadalt, L., Durigan, G., Ganade, G., Gossner, M.M., Guadagnin, D.L., Lorenzen, K., Jacobi, C.M., Weisser, W.W., Pillar, V.D., 2015.
  Conservation in Brazil needs to include non-forest ecosystems. Divers. Distrib. 21, 1455–1460. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12380
- Parr, C.L., Lehmann, C.E.R., Bond, W.J., Hoffmann, W.A., Andersen, A.N., 2014. Tropical grassy biomes: misunderstood, neglected, and under threat. Trends Ecol. Evol. 29, 205– 213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.02.004
- Petchey, O.L., Gaston, K.J., 2006. Functional diversity: back to basics and looking forward. Ecol. Lett. 9, 741–758. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00924.x
- R Development Core Team, 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. http://www.RProj ect.org
- Raine, E.H., Gray, C.L., Mann, D.J., Slade, E.M., 2018a. Tropical dung beetle morphological traits predict functional traits and show intraspecific differences across land uses. Ecol. Evol. 8, 8686–8696. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4218
- Raine, E.H., Mikich, S.B., Lewis, O.T., Riordan, P., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Slade, E.M., 2018b. Extinctions of interactions: quantifying a dung beetle–mammal network. Ecosphere 9, e02491. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2491
- Raine, E.H., Slade, E.M., 2019. Dung beetle-mammal associations: Methods, research trends and future directions. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 286. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.2002
- Ratnam, J., Bond, W.J., Fensham, R.J., Hoffmann, W.A., Archibald, S., Lehmann, C.E.R., Anderson, M.T., Higgins, S.I., Sankaran, M., 2011. When is a 'forest' a savanna, and

why does it matter? Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 653–660. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00634.x

- Ribeiro, J. F., & Walter, B.M.T., 1998. Fitofisionomias do bioma Cerrado. Cerrado Ambient. e flora 556.
- Rivera, C., Wolff, M., 2007. Digitonthophagus gazella (Coleoptera : Scarabaeidae): distribution in America and two new records for Colombia. Rev. Colomb. Entomol. 33, 190–192.
- Scheffler, P.Y., 2005. Dung beetle (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) diversity and community structure across three disturbance regimes in eastern Amazonia. J. Trop. Ecol. 21, 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467404001683
- Slade, E.M., Mann, D.J., Villanueva, J.F., Lewis, O.T., 2007. Experimental evidence for the effects of dung beetle functional group richness and composition on ecosystem function in a tropical forest. J. Anim. Ecol. 76, 1094–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01296.x
- Slade, E.M., Riutta, T., Roslin, T., Tuomisto, H.L., 2016. The role of dung beetles in reducing greenhouse gas emissions from cattle farming. Sci. Rep. 6, 18140. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18140
- Suarez-castro, F., Martinez-harms, M., Mitchell, M.G.E., Maron, M., Mcalpine, C., Gaston, K.J., Johansen, K., Rhodes, J.R., 2015. Reframing landscape fragmentation 's effects on ecosystem services 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.01.011
- Sy, V. De, Herold, M., Achard, F., Beuchle, R., Clevers, J.G.P.W., Lindquist, E., Verchot, L., 2015. Land use patterns and related carbon losses following deforestation in South America. Environ. Res. Lett. 10, 124004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124004
- Tissiani, A.S. de O., Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Campelo-Júnior, J.H., 2017. Dung beetles of Brazilian pastures and key to genera identification (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Pesqui. Agropecuária Bras. 52, 401–418. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0100-204x2017000600004

Tonelli, M., Verdú, J.R., Zunino, M., 2018. Effects of the progressive abandonment of

grazing on dung beetle biodiversity: body size matters. Biodivers. Conserv. 27, 189–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-017-1428-3

- Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Edmonds, W.D., Ocampo, F.C., Schoolmeesters, P., 2011. A multilingual key to the genera and subgenera of the subfamily Scarabaeinae of the New World (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Zootaxa 2854, 1. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2854.1.1
- Vidaurre, T.; Noriega, J. an. L., 2008. First Report on the Distribution of Digitonthophagus gazella (Fabricius, 1787) (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) in Bolivia. Acta Zoológica Mex. 24, 217–220.
- Vieira, L., Louzada, J.N.C., Spector, S., 2008. Effects of degradation and replacement of southern Brazilian Coastal sandy vegetation on the dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Biotropica 40, 719–727. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2008.00432.x
- Villéger, S., Miranda, J.R., Hernández, D.F., Mouillot, D., 2010. Contrasting changes in taxonomie vs. functional diversity of tropical fish communities after habitat degradation. Ecol. Appl. 20, 1512–1522. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1310.1
- Vries, M.F.W. De, Parkinson, A.E., Dulphy, J.P., Sayer, M., Diana, E., Wyke, N., National, I., Recherche, D., 2007. Effects of livestock breed and grazing intensity on biodiversity and production in grazing systems . 4 . Effects on animal diversity 185–197.
- Zaloumis, N.P., Bond, W.J., 2011. Grassland restoration after afforestation: No direction home? Austral Ecol. 36, 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2010.02158.x

#### **Supplementary material**



Number of individuals

**Fig. S1** Extrapolation curves based on the number of dung beetle individuals collected in Cerrado (red line) and cattle pasture (blue line) from six municipalities in Minas Gerais State, Brazil. The dotted line indicates the extrapolation value and the shading indicates the 95% confidence intervals.



**Fig. S2** Rank abundance distribution of Body mass (BM) (A & B); BM-adjusted leg area (C & D); BM-adjusted pronotum volume (E & F); and back:front leg lengths (G & H) in Cerrado (A, C, E, G) and cattle pasture (B, D, F, H).

**Table S1** Species list, abundances, mean trait values, and nesting strategy of dung beetles collected in six municipalities in Minas Gerais State, Brazil. Letters in parentheses relate to morphological trait sizes: VS= very small, S= small, M= medium, L= large, and VL= very large (see methods for how traits were measured).

Species list	Cerra do	Cattle pasture	Body mass (BM)	BM-adj front leg area	BM-adj pronotum vol	back:front leg lengths	Nesting strategy
<i>Agamopus unguicularis</i> (Harold, 1883)	0	1	0,0029 (VS)	76,55 (VL)	713,9 (S)	2,16 (VL)	-
Agamopus viridis Boucomont, 1928	267	55	0,0015 (VS)	151,62 (VL)	675,05 (VS)	2,26 (VL)	-
Ateuchus aff. ovalis Boucomont, 1928	1	0	0,0052 (VS)	56,15 (M)	558,35 (VS)	1,54 (VL)	Tunneler
Ateuchus frontalis (Boucomont, 1928)	517	1038	0,0015 (VS)	190,68 (VL)	1572,25 (VL)	1,49 (VL)	Tunneler
Ateuchus pauperatus (Germar, 1824)	70	33	0,0230 (VS)	41,15 (VS)	203,38 (VS)	0,94 (VS)	Tunneler
Ateuchus puncticolllis (Harold, 1867)	0	14	0,0177 (VS)	38,19 (VS)	541,52 (VS)	0,92 (VS)	Tunneler
Ateuchus semicribratum (Harold, 1868)	177	282	0,008 (VS)	61,91 (M)	690,11 (VS)	1,07 (S)	Tunneler
Ateuchus sp.1	3	1	0,0072 (VS)	130,04 (VL)	1425,33 (VL)	1,3 (L)	Tunneler
Ateuchus sp.2	2	0	0,0143 (VS)	35,04 (VS)	395,36 (VS)	1,27 (M)	Tunneler
Ateuchus sp.3	1	0	0,011 (VS)	49,91 (S)	746,09 (M)	0,79 (VS)	Tunneler
Ateuchus striatulus (Borre, 1886)	2	9	0,0107 (VS)	44,54 (VS)	651,68(VS)	0,91 (VS)	Tunneler
Ateuchus vividus (Germar, 1823)	80	7	0,0154 (VS)	35,16 (VS)	450,91 (VS)	1,19 (M)	Tunneler
Ateuchus volxemi Borre, 1886	721	122	0,006 (VS)	46,07 (S)	449,47 (VS)	1,39 (VL)	Tunneler
Besourenga sp.1	6	0	0,0006 (VS)	83,89 (VL)	3983,62 (VL)	0,41 (VS)	Dweller
Besourenga sp.2	2	0	0,0006 (VS)	70 (L)	4035,18 (VL)	0,26 (VS)	Dweller
Besourenga sp.3	13	1	0,0006 (VS)	80 (VL)	4381,76 (VL)	0,34 (VS)	Dweller

<i>Canthidium barbacenicum</i> Borre,	202	0			505 41 (MG)	1 47 (311)	<b>T</b> 1
1886	282	9	0,0093 (VS)	50,7 (M)	587,41 (VS)	1,47 (VL)	Tunneler
<i>Canthidium multipunctatum</i> Balthasar, 1939	2	7	0,0021 (VS)	101,67 (VL)	895,28 (M)	1,35 (VL)	Tunneler
Canthidium refulgens Boucomont.							
1928	391	0	0,008 (VS)	65,51 (M)	894,21 (M)	1,23 (M)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.1	1	27	0,0157 (VS)	47,25 (S)	766,85 (M)	1,07 (S)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.2	0	2	0,0193 (VS)	38,75 (VS)	685,47 (VS)	0,79 (VS)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.3	0	2	0,01 (VS)	57,76 (M)	680,63 (VS)	1,2 (M)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.4	2	0	0,0099 (VS)	42,65 (VS)	580,78 (VS)	1,03 (S)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.5	3	0	0,0091 (VS)	41,43(VS)	578,89 (VS)	0,65 (VS)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.6	1	0	0,0089 (VS)	15,39 (VS)	165,22 (VS)	1,89 (VL)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.7	29	0	0,0036 (VS)	59,01 (M)	546,97 (VS)	1,71 (VL)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.8	9	1	0,0094 (VS)	49,44 (S)	812,36 (M)	0,68 (VS)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.9	8	0	0,0039 (VS)	65,35 (M)	662,34 (VS)	1,52 (VL)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.10	9	7	0,0205 (VS)	43,69 (VS)	739,69 (M)	0,78 (VS)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.11	1	0	0,0121 (VS)	25,21 (VS)	345,6 (VS)	1,15 (M)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.12	1	0	0,018 (VS)	20,55 (VS)	163,17 (VS)	2,07 (VL)	Tunneler
Canthidium sp.13	5	0	0,0082 (VS)	63,11 (M)	737,65 (M)	1,33 (L)	Tunneler
Canthon aff. conformis	6	0	0,0156 (VS)	43,93 (VS)	743,99 (M)	0,99 (VS)	Roller
Canthon aff. macadoi	1	0	0,0069 (VS)	52,75 (M)	451,63 (VS)	1,73 (VL)	Roller
Canthon aff. virens	2	0	0,0148 (VS)	44,34 (VS)	767,21 (M)	1,05 (S)	Roller
Canthon chlorophanus	241	1	0,0041 (VS)	224,46 (VL)	2388,68 (VL)	1,92 (VL)	Roller
Canthon cinctellus (Germar, 1824)	5	5	0,0062 (VS)	80,81 (VL)	938,83 (M)	1,52 (VL)	Roller
Canthon enkerlini (Martinez,							
Halffter & Halffter, 1964)	81	0	0,0117 (VS)	83,46 (VL)	920,26 (M)	1,59 (VL)	Roller
Canthon s. histrio (Serville, 1828)	88	0	0,0406 (VS)	46,49 (S)	759,11 (M)	0,9 (VS)	Roller
Canthon ibarragrossoi	7	0	0,0097 (VS)	42,9 (VS)	615,25 (VS)	1,3 (L)	Roller
Canthon lituratus (Germar, 1813)	14	37	0,0029 (VS)	191,25 (VL)	1865,25 (VL)	2,05 (VL)	Roller

Canthon melancholicus Harold,							
1968	128	1	0,0943 (M)	39,95 (VS)	876,65 (M)	0,63 (VS)	Roller
Canthon sp.1	26	0	0,0044 (VS)	107,28 (VL)	1051,68 (VL)	1,79 (VL)	Roller
Canthon sp.2	8	0	0,0133 (VS)	66,95 (M)	879,97 (M)	1,16 (M)	Roller
Canthon sp.3	1	0	0,0044 (VS)	57,27 (M)	586,58 (VS)	1,75 (VL)	Roller
Canthon sp.4	0	1	0,0047 (VS)	97,02 (VL)	904,64 (M)	2,27 (VL)	Roller
Canthon sp.5	0	1	0,0089 (VS)	42,81 (VS)	511,85 (VS)	1,49 (VL)	Roller
Canthon sp.6	117	1	0,0075 (VS)	64,56 (M)	737,38 (S)	1,55 (VL)	Roller
Canthon sp.7	11	0	0,0040 (VS)	68,96 (M)	614,77 (VS)	2,09 (VL)	Roller
Canthon sp.8	3	0	0,0015 (VS)	182,23 (VL)	965,82 (L)	3,59 (VL)	Roller
Canthon sp.9	199	0	0,0036 (VS)	144,32 (VL)	1835,48 (VL)	1,58 (VL)	Roller
Canthon tristis (Harold, 1862)	105	0	0,0267 (VS)	66,42 (M)	933,14 (M)	1,03 (S)	Roller
Chalcocopris inexpectatus Rossini & Vaz-de-Mello, 2015	1	0	0,0331 (VS)	40,03 (VS)	469,11 (VS)	1,51 (VL)	Tunneler
Coprophanaeus cyanescens (d'Olsoufieff, 1924)	2	1	0,5077 (VL)	14,03 (VS)	677,91 (VS)	0,28 (VS)	Tunneler
Coprophanaeus ensifer (Germar, 1824)	35	0	2,48 (VL)	8,63 (VS)	800,76 (M)	0,18 (VS)	Tunneler
Coprophanaeus spitzi (Pessôa, 1934)	14	8	0,4518 (VL)	13,96 (VS)	652,38 (VS)	0,3 (VS)	Tunneler
Coprophanaeus thalassinus (Perty, 1830)	33	0	0,1707 (VL)	22,52 (VS)	813,89 (M)	0,36 (VS)	Tunneler
Deltochilum aff. komareki Balthasar, 1939	1	0	0,089 (M)	16,32 (VS)	370,44 (VS)	0,74 (VS)	Roller
Deltochilum enceladus Kolbe, 1893	8	0	0,8804 (VL)	14,27 (VS)	477,21 (VS)	0,47 (VS)	Roller
Deltochilum pseudoicarus Balthasar, 1939	34	2	0,4331 (VL)	22,51 (VS)	697,82 (S)	0,52 (VS)	Roller
Deltochilum sp.1	3	0	0,1494 (L)	12,19 (VS)	384,93 (VS)	0,7 (VS)	Roller
Deltochilum sp.2	38	1	0,0511 (S)	36,04 (VS)	765,07 (M)	0,8 (VS)	Roller

Deltochilum sp.3	9	0	0,0903 (M)	22,87 (VS)	695,13 (S)	0,64 (VS)	Roller
Diabroctis mirabilis (Harold, 1877)	87	1	0,3661 (VL)	22,73 (VS)	901,07 (M)	0,27 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius aff. carbonarius	15	0	0,1825 (VL)	19,41 (VS)	508,67 (VS)	0,5 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius aff. cuprinus	32	1	0,1446 (M)	19,47 (VS)	506,31 (VS)	0,59 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius aff. triangulariceps	0	1	0,1465 (L)	29,7 (VS)	898,65 (M)	0,47 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius aff. zikani	3	0	0,4509 (VL)	17 (VS)	731,19 (S)	0,32 (VS)	Tunneler
<i>Dichotomius ascanius</i> (Harold, 1869)	1	0	0,0513 (S)	35,07 (VS)	596,67 (VS)	0,83 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius bicuspis (Germar,							
1824)	0	2	0,1771 (VL)	23,87 (VS)	572,89 (VS)	0,55 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius bos (Blanchard, 1843)	42	410	0,3915 (VL)	18,49 (VS)	736,59 (S)	0,3 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius carbonarius							
(Mannerheim, 1929)	4	0	0,1519 (L)	20,54 (VS)	581,49 (VS)	0,46 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius geminatus (Arrow,							
1913)	99	5622	0,0619 (M)	43,95 (VS)	820,24 (M)	0,7 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius glaucus (Harold, 1869)	149	19	0,2130 (VL)	20,96 (VS)	616,76 (VS)	0,54 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius lycas (Felsche, 1901)	64	4	0,1866 (VL)	21 (VS)	559,75 (VS)	0,56 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius mormon (Ljungh,							
1799)	1	0	0,5034 (VL)	12,63 (VS)	595,4 (VS)	0,36 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius nisus (Olivier, 1789)	10	128	0,376 (VL)	19,69 (VS)	669,56 (VS)	0,43 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius puncticollis							
(Luederwaldt, 1935)	20	0	0,0493 (S)	35,38 (VS)	702,32 (S)	0,69 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius smaragdinus (Perty,							
1830)	0	1	0,0381 (VS)	50,73 (M)	960,96 (L)	0,59 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius sp.	30	6	0,2246 (VL)	21,1 (VS)	700,33 (S)	0,5 (VS)	Tunneler
Dichotomius transiens Luederwaldt, 1929	6	0	0,1664 (VL)	39,65 (VS)	1320,3 (VL)	0,39 (VS)	Tunneler
Digitonthophagus gazella						, , ,	
(Fabricius, 1787)	175	1033	0,0459 (S)	68,98 (M)	1131,7 (VL)	0,63 (VS)	Tunneler

<i>Eurysternus caribaeus</i> (Herbst, 1789)	73	1	0,0705 (M)	36,76 (VS)	785,9 (M)	0,57 (VS)	Dweller
Eurysternus navajasi Martínez, 1988	1	0	0,0036 (VS)	80,28 (VL)	641,75 (VS)	2,33 (VL)	Dweller
<i>Eurysternus nigrovirens</i> Génier, 2009	55	0	0,0092 (VS)	44,08 (VS)	593,42 (VS)	1,92 (VL)	Dweller
Eurysternus paralellus Castelnau, 1840	3	0	0,0357 (VS)	49,25 (S)	958,03 (M)	0,88 (VS)	Dweller
Genieridium cryptops (Arrow, 1913)	2196	10719	0,0052 (VS)	39,41 (VS)	346,99 (VS)	1,79 (VL)	Dweller
Isocopris foveolatus (Luederwaldt, 1931)	6	0	0,1754 (VL)	34,3 (VS)	778,96 (M)	0,49 (VS)	Tunneler
Isocopris hypocrita (Lucas, 1857)	45	52	0,5814 (VL)	21,01 (VS)	822,5 (M)	0,3 (VS)	Tunneler
Leotrichillum sp.	59	5	0,0011 (VS)	162,32 (VL)	788,44 (M)	3,21 (VL)	-
Malagoniella aff. astyanax	2	3	0,1231 (M)	33,01 (VS)	571,88 (VS)	0,75 (VS)	Roller
Malagoniella puncticollis (Blanchard, 1843)	12	0	0,1313 (M)	32,93 (VS)	549,03 (VS)	0,84 (VS)	Roller
Ontherus appendiculatus (Mannerheim, 1829)	537	1646	0,0474 (S)	31,33 (VS)	534,96 (VS)	0,6 (VS)	Tunneler
Ontherus digitatus Harold, 1868	48	2	0,0215 (VS)	43,29 (VS)	575,09 (VS)	0,98 (VS)	Tunneler
Ontherus erosioides Luederwaldt, 1930	392	0	0,0161 (VS)	55,03 (M)	598,4 (VS)	0,98 (VS)	Tunneler
Ontherus sp.	198	1	0,0295 (VS)	39,29 (VS)	523,9 (VS)	0,83 (VS)	Tunneler
Ontherus ulcopygus Génier, 1996	41	0	0,0613 (M)	36,31 (VS)	545,3 (VS)	0,59 (VS)	Tunneler
Onthophagus bucullus Mannerheim, 1829	51	399	0,0050 (VS)	86,48 (VL)	1003,89 (L)	1,58 (VL)	Tunneler
Onthophagus hircus Billberg, 1915	201	2	0,0050 (VS)	63,52 (M)	763,75 (M)	1,46 (VL)	Tunneler
Onthophagus ptox Erichson, 1847	278	444	0,0044 (VS)	70,96 (L)	777,34 (M)	1,6 (VL)	Tunneler

Total	9704	23977					
Uroxys sp.6	5	0	0,0033 (VS)	54,62 (M)	439,13 (VS)	2,08 (VL)	-
Uroxys sp.5	31	0	0,0024 (VS)	47,58 (S)	349,52 (VS)	2,17 (VL)	-
Uroxys sp.4	5	0	0,0023 (VS)	57,18 (M)	373,63 (VS)	2,3 (VL)	-
Uroxys sp.3	11	0	0,0004 (VS)	561,92 (VL)	4223,05 (VL)	2,64 (VL)	-
Uroxys sp.2	33	0	0,0037 (VS)	50,59 (M)	379,01 (VS)	2,31 (VL)	-
Uroxys sp.1	14	1	0,0009 (VS)	156,47 (VL)	1064,61 (VL)	2,59 (VL)	-
Trichillum sp.	47	0	0,00132(VS)	54,45 (M)	387,62 (VS)	3,04 (VL)	Dweller
Trichillum heydeni Harold, 1868	199	1776	0,0024 (VS)	38,15 (VS)	361,24 (VS)	2,73 (VL)	Dweller
<i>Trichillum externepunctatum</i> Borre, 1886	0	1	0,002 (VS)	30 (VS)	388,85 (VS)	2,27 (VL)	Dweller
Trichillum adjunctum Martínez, 1967	0	2	0,0021 (VS)	60,95 (M)	809,51 (M)	1,13 (M)	Dweller
Pseudocanthon sp.	1	13	0,0012 (VS)	193,59 (VL)	1493,12 (VL)	2,52 (VL)	-
Phanaeus palaeno Blanchard, 1843	227	3	0,1244 (M)	19,82 (VS)	769,71 (M)	0,51 (VS)	Tunneler
Phanaeus kirbyi Vigors, 1825	10	2	0,2316 (VL)	23,17 (VS)	931,01 (M)	0,35 (VS)	Tunneler
<i>Oxysternon palaemo</i> Castelnau, 1840	358	0	0,1704 (VL)	22,65 (VS)	979,77 (L)	0,34 (VS)	Tunneler

# **ARTIGO 2**

Normas do periódico Science of the Total Environment (versão preliminar)

# The pathways of climatic and environmental control on dung beetle communities and functions in tropical savannas

Rafaella Maciel<sup>1</sup>, Rodrigo Braga<sup>2</sup>, Eleanor Slade<sup>3</sup>, Julio Louzada<sup>4</sup>

1. Departamento de Entomologia, Universidade Federal de Lavras, Lavras, Minas Gerais 37200-000, Brasil.

 Universidade do Estado de Minas Gerais, Unidade Divinópolis, Minas Gerais 35501-170, Brasil

3. Asian School of the Environment, College of Science, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

4. Departamento de Biologia, Setor de Ecologia, Universidade Federal de Lavras, Lavras, Minas Gerais 37200-000, Brasil

# ABSTRACT

The expansion of agriculture and livestock has been the main drivers of biodiversity in the tropics. Additionally, climate change is having a strong impact on biological system, and associated with land use changes may alter biodiversity distribution and interactions. Dung beetles are sensitive to climate change, since climate has direct influence on their life cycle. Besides, dung beetles show habitat specificity, and are responsive to changes in environmental conditions. Hence, both climate changes and disturbances in natural systems may affect dung beetle communities, changing the habitat associations and reducing the rates of dung removal and the associated functions. Here, to test the effect of tropical savannas conversion into pastures in regions submitted to different climatic conditions, we selected three bioclimatic zones (BZ) distributed along Brazilian savanna (Cerrado) using structural equations modelling (SEM). To do so, we select three municipalities in the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil to set up an ecological function experiment and to collected dung beetles and dung feeding-fly. In each municipality, three paired sites of Cerrado and cattle pasture were selected. We found that the effect of land use changes in tropical savannas is dependent of the bioclimatic zones. Land use system and BZ directly and indirectly affect dung beetle communities, functions, and dung flies abundance. Besides, dung beetle richness was the most important variable among all models evaluated, positively affecting directly and/or indirectly all other variables of dung beetles and ecological functions. We conclude that Cerrado conversion into pasture can have a cascade effect, as the loss of vegetation cover leads to loss of dung beetle species richness, which causes loss of biomass and functional indices, affecting dung beetle functions and interaction with dung flies. However, the community of dung beetles and the ecological functions are affected in different ways, depending on the context. Due so, we suggest that public politics should be thought to evaluate separately each region, submitted to the effects of different climatic conditions.

**Key words:** bioclimatic zone, land use change, structural equations modelling, Cerrado, dung flies.

# **1. Introduction**

The land use changes caused by the expansion of agriculture and livestock has been the main drivers of biodiversity loss, but some lines of research suggest that climate could mediate the intrinsic relationship between biodiversity and environment, becoming an important cause of extinction with climate changes in progress nowadays (Lemes et al., 2019; Pacifici et al., 2015; Thomas et al., 2004). The climate changes are having a strong impact on biological systems through changes in species populations, communities and ecosystem processes, with potential consequences for ecosystem functioning and future provision of ecological services (Milotić et al., 2017; Parmesan, 2006; Thomas et al., 2004). It is know that the outcome of species interactions and their responses to climate changes are speciesdependent, but also habitat and context-dependent (González-Megías and Menéndez, 2012; Slade et al., 2016). Due so, the habitat modification associated with climate variations may revert positive and negative interactions producing unpredictable scenarios associated to land use (González-Megías and Menéndez, 2012).

There is increasing evidence that species are already responding to microclimate changes by adjusting their geographic and altitudinal distributions (Birkett et al., 2018; Nunes et al., 2016; Parmesan, 2006; Pecl et al., 2017). Insects are the organisms most likely to be affected by climate change, and dung beetles are particularly sensitive, since climate has a direct influence on their development, reproduction and survival (Bale et al., 2002; Menendez, 2007). Dung beetles use dung to feeding and nesting, and dung removal drives all the other ecological functions performed by them (Andresen, 2002; Braga et al., 2012; Slade et al., 2007), such as nutrient cycling and bioturbation (Brown et al., 2010; Sitters et al., 2014). These organisms is also known for their potential to reduce detritus-feeding fly abundances on pastures systems, due to the competition for resource (Braga et al., 2012; Hanski and Cambefort, 1991).

However, both climate changes and disturbances in natural systems may affect dung beetle communities, changing the habitat associations and reducing the rates of dung removal and the associated functions (Beynon et al., 2015, 2012; Menéndez et al., 2016). The reduced ecological functions can cause accumulation of dung on the pastures, reducing the available grazing area and facilitating the spread of pests (Beynon et al., 2012). Due so, understand the links of climate and human disturbance on biotic communities and their functioning can be important in anticipating and planning conservation needs. Tropical savannas cover more than 20% of the global land surface, and it is estimated that one-fifth of the global human population depends directly on this regions for their livelihoods, making it one of the most impacted systems in the present (Lehmann et al., 2009; Olsson and Ouattara, 2013). The conversion of tropical savannas to cattle pastures, even considered as a subtle change, negatively affects the dung beetle community and its ecological functions (Almeida et al., 2011; Correa et al., 2019). However, little is known about the effects of climate change on biodiversity and ecological functions in these systems. Due so, to test the effect of tropical savannas conversion into pastures in regions submitted to different climatic conditions, we selected three bioclimatic zones (BZ) distributed along Brazilian savanna (Cerrado).

The Cerrado is considered an important hotspot for biodiversity, because of its high species richness and rate of endemism (Myers et al., 2000). However, this system has been extensively cleared for agriculture and livestock (Beuchle et al., 2015; Overbeck et al., 2015). Here, we assessed climatic and environmental variables to test their direct and indirect effects on dung beetle communities and associated ecological functions (dung removal, soil bioturbation, and dung beetles interaction with dung-feeding fly), using structural equations modeling (SEM). Specifically, we aimed to 1) test if the effect of Cerrado's conversion into pasture is dependent of bioclimatic zone; 2) verify the direct and indirect effect of bioclimatic zone and system changes on dung beetle communities and ecological functions; and 3) identify the key factors explaining the ecological functions.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Study site

The study areas are located in Minas Gerais State– Brazil (Fig. 1). We selected three municipalities in geographical core of tropical savanna (Cerrado *sensu stricto*) region, immersed in different bioclimatic zone (BZ) (Roriz, 2012): Januária (BZ 12), Arinos (BZ 20) and Formiga (BZ 16) (15°27'13.45"S 44°48'43.83"W, 15°54'26.36"S 45°59'48.49"W and 20°28'15.54"S 45°28'48.23"W respectively). Januária and Arinos have a tropical climate, with rainfall concentrated in the summer. The climate is classified as Aw (according to Köppen and Geiger) to Januária and Arinos municipalities, with average temperature and precipitation of 24.5 ° C and 926 mm in Januária, and 23.9 ° C and 1,181 mm in Arinos. In Formiga the

climate is classified as Cwa, hot and temperate, with rainfall concentrated in the summer, presenting an average temperature of 20.6  $^{\circ}$  C and annual average rainfall of 1,437 mm (Source: Climate-data). The altitude of the region ranged from 471 to 882 m. The average temperature during the experiment varied from 26° to 28°C, and precipitation from 50 to 460 mm.

In each BZ, we selected three areas of Cerrado and three of exotic cattle pasture (*Urochloa* spp.), 3 km apart each other, and in each area we installed three independent sampling points 100 m apart each other, totalling 54 independent sampled points (see Silva and Hernández, 2015).





#### 2.2 Dung beetle sampling

We sampled dung beetles between January to March 2016 (the wet season), period of greatest activity of dung beetles in tropical ecosystems (Halffter, 1991). In each sampling point we set up two pitfall traps 3 m apart baited one with 30 g of human faeces and the other with 500 g of cow dung, in order to sample the largest possible local dung beetle community.

Baits was placed at the center of trap using a wire as bait holder. Pitfall traps consisted of plastic containers with 19 cm diameter and 11 cm deep, partially filled with 250 ml water, salt and detergent. The traps was protect from rain with a plastic lid suspended 20 cm above the surface and collections took place over a period of 48 h at each sampling site.

Dung beetle specimens were transported in 80% alcohol from the field to the laboratory – Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação de Invertebrados at Universidade Federal de Lavras (LECIN - UFLA), then sorted, dried in drying oven 40°C for 72h or until they are completely dried, and stored in paper envelopes. We identified the dung beetles using a key to the genera and subgenera of subfamily Scarabaeinae of the New World (Vaz-de-Mello et al., 2011), the reference collection at Coleção de Referência de Escarabeíneos Neotropicais (CREN – UFLA) and the identification was confirm by the specialist Dr. Fernando Z. Vaz-de-Melo at Universidade Federal do Mato Grosso (UFMT). Voucher specimens were deposited at CREN - UFLA in Minas Gerais State, Brazil.

We considered the species richness as the number of different species at each sampling point. We measured the dry body mass from 20 randomly selected individuals (or the maximum number available), to obtain mean value for each specie, and obtained total biomass by multiplying each species mean weight by its abundance and summing across sites.

#### **2.3 Dung beetle functions**

We set up an ecological function experiment in each sampling point at the day before the dung beetles sampling. Ecological functions consisted in a circular plot "arena", 1 m in diameter, the border of which delimited by a fence (approximately 15 cm high) built using a nylon net with a mesh size of 0.08 mm, held by bamboo sticks (Fig. S1). The nylon fence limited the horizontal movement of dung by the beetles to the contained area, allowing a more accurate quantification of the examined functions. We cleared the soil surface of each arena of litter and vegetation to further facilitate the measurement of ecological functions (for details see Braga et al., 2013). In the center of each arena we placed an experimental dung pile consisting of 200 g of a mixture of 4:1 proportion of fresh swine and human dung, protected for the rain by a plastic lid. In each sampling site we used a humidity loss control consisting of 30 g of fresh human faeces wrapped in a nylon fabric and suspended over the soil by a bamboo stick, to account for water loss or gain in the calculation of dung removal rates. We measured dung removal and soil bioturbation 24 h after the placement of the experimental dung piles. To determine dung removal rates, the amount of remaining dung was collected, weighed and then dung removal was calculated by subtracting from the original dung weight added to the arena. To determine the amount of soil excavated by dung beetles, loose soil around and beneath the experimental dung pile was collected, taken to laboratory and dried at 80°C until a constant weight.

#### 2.4 Larvae and adult flies sampling

We installed a trap to catch dung flies 3 m away from each arena. The trap consists of a pet bottle, with openings at the bottom, baited with 30 g human faeces. Flies entering through the openings of the trap are able to oviposit in the dung pad, but are trapped in the top when they attempt to exit. After 24 h of exposure the traps were removed from the field. The adults were transported in 80% alcohol from the field to the laboratory (LECIN - UFLA), sorted and counted. The dung sample was then incubated for 48 h to produce as fly larvae as possible to agree with visual counting. Both adult and larval flies were used as a proxy for the dung fly communities (see Braga et al., 2012).

#### **2.5 Vegetation structural characterization**

We recorded the vegetation density and vegetation fractal dimension using SIDELOOK software (Nobis, 2005). Fractal dimension (number that characterizes the geometry of a fractal) was used as a proxy of vegetation heterogeneity, and from hereinafter we will refer just as vegetation heterogeneity. To do so, we took photographs of the understory according to a methodology adapted from Nobis (2005), and analyzed them in the software. In each sampling point we took four photographs of a black panel ( $1 \times 1$  m) placed behind vegetation 3 m away. We used a camera positioned 1 m above the soil with parallel and perpendicular orientation to the pair of *pitffall* traps. The vegetation density was calculated using the following formula: VD = A x (BP / WP) / W. Where, VD = vegetation density; A = area of the panel (height multiplied by the width); BP = black pixels; WP = white pixels and W = panel width.

# 2.6 Data analysis

#### 2.6.1 Variables

We calculated two functional diversity indices using morphological (body mass - bm, bm-adjusted front leg area, bm-adjusted pronotum volume, and back:front leg lengths) and nesting strategy (rollers, tunnelers and dwellers) dung beetles traits in FD package (Laliberté et al., 2012) in R 3.5.2 (R Development Core Team 2018). The chosen indices were functional richness (FRic) and functional evenness (FEve) (Laliberté and Legendre, 2010), since we found different responses between Cerrado and pasture in previously study (Maciel et al. data not published).

We selected climatic, environmental, dung beetles and functional variables. The climatic variable selected was bioclimatic zone (BZ). The environmental variables was system, vegetation heterogeneity and vegetation density. The dung beetle variables was species richness, total biomass, functional richness and functional evenness, and the functionality variables was dung removing, soil bioturbation, adult dung flies and larvae abundances. All variables were submitted to Spearman's correlation to test the collinearity between them.

To avoid the use of variables that display redundant information and to extract the most predictive information, we used principal component analysis (PCA) to verify the congruence between variables related to functional indices (FRic and FEve), dung beetles functions (dung removal and soil bioturbation) and dung flies (adult dung flies and larvae abundance) in factoextra package. The PCA is an analysis capable of verifying the correlation between variables and joining them in axes created based on eigenvectors. We used the first axis (PC1) for analyses of functional indices, dung beetles functions and dung flies in the subsequent SEM analyses, and we test the effect of the axis to verify the direction of the relationship with each variable separately. As a result, PC1 explained 77% of variation of functional indices, 88% of functions and 51% of flies' abundance in full model, 77%, 90% e 79% in Cerrado model and 71%, 88% and 56% in Pasture model. Only dung flies PCA for full model and Pasture model was negatively related to larvae abundance.

# 2.6.2 Structural Equations Modeling

We used Structural Equations Modeling (SEM), also known as path analysis, through the lavaan package, to create models expressing the interactions among variables. SEM allows testing a hypothesis of causal order among a set of variables. It allows us to calculate all relations between the independent (exogenous) variables and their ability to explain a given phenomenon (dependent or endogenous variable) (Grace, 2006; Eisenhauer et al., 2015; Veen et al., 2010). The variable matrix was submitted to mardia test using MVN package and since they are not normal, we submitted the models to bootstrap of 1000 randomizations.

We create hypothetical models with possible interactions between variables (Fig. 2), using only interactions with biological sense or theory based (Valdés and García, 2011). The hypothetical models was based in all sample data (full model) and by land use systems separately (Cerrado and pasture models). The exogenous variables was: system and BZ, and the endogenous variables was: vegetation heterogeneity, vegetation density, dung beetles species richness, dung beetles total biomass, functional indices, dung beetles functions and flies abundance. After performing the analyses, the non-significant interactions were excluded to better fit the model. We measured the direct and indirect effect of BZ and system in dung beetle and functions variables. Direct effects was values obtained by standardized partial regression coefficients between the exogenous and endogenous variables. The indirect effects was calculated as the sum of the products of all standardized partial regression coefficients between the exogenous and endogenous variables.

To confirm whether the observed data support the tested hypothetical model (model a priori) we used goodness of fit tests. We used three indices to test the fit of the model: 1) RMSEA (root mean square error of approximation) - tells how well the model, with unknown but optimally chosen parameter estimates would fit the hypothetical model. Well-fitting models obtaining values less than 0.05. 2) SRMR (standardised root mean square residual) - are the square root of the difference between the residuals of the hypothetical model and the null model. Range from 0 to 1 with well fitting models obtaining values less than 0.05 (Hooper et al., 2008). 3) CFI (comparative fit index) - compares the hypothetical model with the null model (perfect fit model). Ranges from zero to one with well-fitting models obtaining values > 0.90. All analyses was performed in R software version 3.4.4 (R Development Core Team 2018).



**Fig. 2** Theoretical model of the connections between climatic, environmental, dung beetle community and ecological functions variables. Arrows indicate the direction of interactions.

# 3. Results

The final models presented good adjustment according to RMSEA, but Cerrado model did fit in the SRMR, but not in CFI full model (Tab. 1). In the full model, system directly affect vegetation structure (vegetation heterogeneity and density) and indirectly affect dung beetle richness. In addition, system affect directly and indirectly dung beetle functions and flies abundance. BZ directly affect dung beetle richness and functions and indirectly affect biomass, functional indices and dung flies abundance (Table 2).

Cerrado conversion into pastures negatively affect the vegetation structure, which in turn positively affect dung beetles richness and functions. Besides, Cerrado conversion into pasture affect positively dung beetle function and adult dung flies abundance, and negatively affect larvae abundance. BZ negatively affect dung beetle richness and functions, what means that in BZ 12 (Januária) there is more dung beetle richness and functions, and in the 16 and 20 (Formiga and Arinos respectively), richness and functions decrease. Functional indices positively affect dung beetle function, and biomass affect negatively adult dung flies and positively larvae abundance. Lastly, dung beetle functions affect positively adult dung flies and negatively larvae abundance (Fig. 3). In the best Cerrado model selected, we found that BZ have direct effect in dung beetle richness and indirect effect in biomass, functional indices and functions (Table 2). Dung beetle richness is negatively affected by vegetation heterogeneity and BZ and positively by vegetation density. In turn, dung beetle richness positively affect functional indices, dung beetle biomass and functions, showing that the higher the dung beetle communities parameters, the more functions are performed. Besides, dung beetle biomass positively affect dung flies abundances (Fig. 4A). In the best pasture model selected, BZ directly positively affect dung beetle biomass and negatively affect functions (Table2). Vegetation density positively affect dung beetle richness, that positively affect dung beetle biomass, functional indices, functions and adult dung flies abundance in turn. Dung beetle richness also affect negatively larvae abundance (Fig. 4B).

**Table 1** Values of fit indices of the full, Cerrado and pasture structural equations models.

Model	Model fit in	ndices	
	RMSEA	SRMR	CFI
Values of a model with fitting	< 0.07	< 0.08	>0.90
Full	0.003	0.120	0.893
Cerrado	0.038	0.079	0.902
Pasture	0.008	0.110	0.911

Nomenclature: RMSEA= root mean square error of approximation, SRMR= standardised root mean square residual and CFI= comparative fit index.

		Full mod	del		Cerrado model			Pasture model		
Endogenous	Exogenous	Direct	Indirect	Total	Direct	Indirect	Total	Direct	Indirect	Total
Functions	System	0.31	-0.08	0.23						
Functions	BZ	-0.48	-	-0.48	-	-0.45	-0.45	-0.51	-	-0.51
Flies	System	0.32	0.09	0.41						
abundance	BZ	-	-0.14	-0.14	-	-	-	-	-	-
Diahnaaa	System	-	-0.31	-0.31						
Richness	BZ	-0.31	-	-0.31	-0.53	-	-0.53	-	-	-
Riomass	System	-	-	-						
Diomass	BZ	-	-0.23	-0.23	-	-0.43	-0.43	0.45	-	0.45
Functional	System	-	-	-						
indices	BZ	-	-0.24	-0.24	-	-0.38	-0.38	-	-	-

**Table 2** Direct, indirect and total effects of system and bioclimatic zone (BZ) in functions, flies abundance, richness, biomass and functional indices for full, Cerrado and Pasture models.



**Fig. 3** Structural equation model result for full model. Green lines represent the positive effects and red lines the negative effects. Values between the arrows represent the path coefficients with standardized values. Residual variances are displayed in small arrows under each variable. BZ= bioclimatic zone.



**Fig. 4** Structural equation model result for A) Cerrado and B) Pasture. Green lines represent the positive and red lines the negative effects. Values between arrows represent the path coefficients with standardized values. Residual variances are displayed in small arrows under each variable. Dotted lines represent covariations between exogenous variables. Bidirectional arrows represent covariations without cause/effect relation. BZ= bioclimatic zone.
### 4. Discussion

In this study, we evaluated environmental and climate drivers acting over dung beetle communities and their ecological functions. We found that the effect of land use changes in tropical savannas is dependent of the bioclimatic zones. We also found that land use system and BZ directly and indirectly affected dung beetle communities, functions, and dung flies abundance. Our result suggested a cascade effect, since the loss of vegetation cover leads to losses in dung beetle communities' parameters and consequently ecological functions. Dung beetle richness was the most important variable among all models evaluated, positively affecting directly and/or indirectly all other variables of dung beetles and ecological functions. Due so, the loss of species richness cause decreases in dung beetle biomass, functional indices and ecological functions, affecting the ecosystem functioning.

The system and BZ had important effects on dung beetle communities' structure and the ecological functions. Cerrado conversion into pasture leads to vegetation structure changes and loss of vegetation coverage. Here, we showed that the vegetation density and vegetation heterogeneity were positively related to dung beetle species richness and functions in full model. In system models, the vegetation structure also is determinant for dung beetles species richness. Due so, the substitution of the vegetation by pasture leads to loss of dung beetle richness and functions. This result was expected, since for dung beetles of tropical regions, the vegetation cover is one of the most important factors (Audino et al., 2014; Costa et al., 2017; Halffter and Arellano, 2002).

On the other hand, our results suggested that Cerrado conversion into pasture positively affect dung removal and soil bioturbation. In both, Cerrado and pasture models, species richness positively affected directly dung beetle biomass, functional indices and ecological functions. This could be explained by the high availability of food resource, due to the cattle presence in pastures, which may favour the persistence of large populations and total biomass of dung beetles (Lobo, 2006; Tonelli et al., 2018) and consequently their functions. However, it is important to emphasize that the conversion of natural systems in anthropogenic systems leads to species richness loss in several tropical biomes (Beiroz et al., 2018; Correa et al., 2019; Solar et al., 2015; Tavares et al., 2019). Due so, since we found that species richness is a important variable, the loss of species richness could lead to a cascade effect.

The conversion of Cerrado into pasture also leads to an increase in the abundance of adult dung flies, but the number of larvae decreases. On the other hand, the increase of dung beetle total biomass leads to a decrease in adult dung flies abundance. In Cerrado, the increase of biomass leads to increases in functions and in dung flies abundance. In pasture, the increase in species richness leads to an increase in biomass, functional structure and functions, and leads to a decrease in the larvae abundance, although the adult flies increases. Dung beetle is knowing for their potential to reduce detritus-feeding fly abundances, due to the competition for resource, since both organism use dung and carrion for feeding and nesting (Hanski and Cambefort, 1991; Nichols et al., 2008; Wu and Sun, 2010). However, the land-use intensification and simplification could interfere in the dung beetles and flies interaction mediated by dung beetles functions (Braga et al., 2012; Sladecek et al., 2017). Other factors also could influence flies abundance, like climatic changes, since we found that BZ has negative effect on dung flies abundance, although it is a weak effect.

In full and Cerrado models, the BZ negatively affected directly and/or indirectly all dung beetle and functional variables. In pasture model the BZ affected directly biomass and functions. Januária (BZ12) was the BZ whith more species richness, biomass, functional indices and functions, compared to Arinos and Formiga (BZ 16 and 20 respectively) (also see Fig. S2). Diversity-ecosystem functioning relationships may be dependent not only on the functions, but also to the environmental context (Slade and Roslin, 2016 and references cited), as we found here. Besides, the expansion of agriculture, overexploitation and introduction of invasive alien species have been the main drivers of biodiversity loss, but several lines of research suggest that climate change could become an important cause of extinction (Lemes et al., 2019; Pacifici et al., 2015; Thomas et al., 2004).

Indeed, theory predicts that species will change their distribution ranges, their habitat associations (Menéndez et al., 2014), and cause the extinction of many species (Lemes et al., 2019; Thomas et al., 2004). Climate change will not only affect the strength of species interactions, but may also turn positive interactions into negative ones or vice versa (González-Megías and Menéndez, 2012), with consequences for ecosystem functioning (Barton et al., 2009; Durant et al., 2007; Slade et al., 2016). Dung beetles can change habitat associations in response to different and changing bioclimatic conditions, suggesting that global warming will affect their habitat selection (Menéndez et al., 2016; Menéndez and Gutiérrez, 2004). Due so, our results could help to understand and predict the effects of climate changes associated to land use changes, since we found different responses of dung

beetle communities and interactions with flies, and thus help to create strategies to remedy negative effects.

In this work, we highlight the importance of climatic variation associated with land use changes, to determine the parameters related to dung beetle communities and the ecosystem functions. We conclude that Cerrado conversion into pasture can have a cascade effect, as the loss of vegetation cover leads to loss of dung beetle species richness, which causes loss of biomass and functional indices, affecting dung beetle functions and interaction with dung flies. However, the community of dung beetles and the ecological functions are affected in different ways, depending of the BZ. Therefore, we suggest that public politics should be thought to evaluate separately each region, submitted to the effects of different climatic conditions, since the responses of dung beetles communities are context dependent.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank the farmers for allowing our fieldwork to take place on their properties. Julius Cerqueira and Glauco Oliveira for support during fieldwork. Fernando Vaz-de-Mello for help with dung beetle identification. Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) for funding the project (CRA/APQ 02870/2014). RM thanks Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) for the PhD scholarship in Brazil.

### References

- Almeida, S., Louzada, J., Sperber, C., Barlow, J., 2011. Subtle Land-Use Change and Tropical Biodiversity: Dung Beetle Communities in Cerrado Grasslands and Exotic Pastures. Biotropica 43, 704–710. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2011.00751.x
- Andresen, E., 2002. Dung beetles in a Central Amazonian rainforest and their ecological role as secondary seed dispersers. Ecol. Entomol. 27, 257–270. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2311.2002.00408.x
- Audino, L.D., Louzada, J., Comita, L., 2014. Dung beetles as indicators of tropical forest restoration success: Is it possible to recover species and functional diversity? Biol. Conserv. 169, 248–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.11.023
- Bale, J.S., Masters, G.J., Hodkinson, I.D., Awmack, C., Bezemer, T.M., Brown, V.K., Butterfield, J., Buse, A., Coulson, J.C., Farrar, J., Good, J.E.G., Harrington, R., Hartley, S., Jones, T.H., Lindroth, R.L., Press, M.C., Symrnioudis, I., Watt, A.D., Whittaker, J.B., 2002. Herbivory in global climate change research: direct effects of rising temperature on insect herbivores. Glob. Chang. Biol. 8, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2002.00451.x
- Barton, B.T., Beckerman, A.P., Schmitz, O.J., 2009. Climate warming strengthens indirect interactions in an old-field food web. Ecology 90, 2346–2351. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-2254.1
- Beiroz, W., Sayer, E., Slade, E.M., Audino, L., Braga, R.F., Louzada, J., Barlow, J., 2018. Spatial and temporal shifts in functional and taxonomic diversity of dung beetles in a human-modified tropical forest landscape. Ecol. Indic. 95, 518–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.07.062
- Beuchle, R., Grecchi, R.C., Shimabukuro, Y.E., Seliger, R., Eva, H.D., Sano, E., Achard, F., 2015. Land cover changes in the Brazilian Cerrado and Caatinga biomes from 1990 to 2010 based on a systematic remote sensing sampling approach. Appl. Geogr. 58, 116– 127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.01.017
- Beynon, S.A., Peck, M., Mann, D.J., Lewis, O.T., 2012. Consequences of alternative and conventional endoparasite control in cattle for dung-associated invertebrates and ecosystem functioning. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 162, 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2012.08.010
- Beynon, S.A., Wainwright, W.A., Christie, M., 2015. The application of an ecosystem services framework to estimate the economic value of dung beetles to the U.K. cattle industry. Ecol. Entomol. 40. https://doi.org/10.1111/een.12240
- Birkett, A.J., Blackburn, G.A., Menéndez, R., 2018. Linking species thermal tolerance to elevational range shifts in upland dung beetles. Ecography (Cop.). 41, 1510–1519. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.03458
- Braga, R.F., Korasaki, V., Andresen, E., Louzada, J., 2013. Dung Beetle Community and Functions along a Habitat-Disturbance Gradient in the Amazon: A Rapid Assessment of Ecological Functions Associated to Biodiversity. PLoS One 8, e57786. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057786

Braga, R.F., Korasaki, V., Audino, L.D., Louzada, J., 2012. Are Dung Beetles Driving Dung-

Fly Abundance in Traditional Agricultural Areas in the Amazon? Ecosystems 15, 1173–1181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-012-9576-5

- Brown, J., Scholtz, C.H., Janeau, J.-L., Grellier, S., Podwojewski, P., 2010. Dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) can improve soil hydrological properties. Appl. Soil Ecol. 46, 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2010.05.010
- Correa, C.M.A., Braga, R.F., Puker, A., Korasaki, V., 2019. Patterns of taxonomic and functional diversity of dung beetles in a human-modified variegated landscape in Brazilian Cerrado. J. Insect Conserv. 23, 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-018-00118-6
- Costa, C., Oliveira, V.H.F., Maciel, R., Beiroz, W., Korasaki, V., Louzada, J., 2017. Variegated tropical landscapes conserve diverse dung beetle communities. PeerJ 5, e3125. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3125
- Durant, J., Hjermann, D., Ottersen, G., Stenseth, N., 2007. Climate and the match or mismatch between predator requirements and resource availability. Clim. Res. 33, 271– 283. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr033271
- Eisenhauer, N., Bowker, M.A., Grace, J.B., Powell, J.R., 2015. From patterns to causal understanding: Structural equation modeling (SEM) in soil ecology. Pedobiologia (Jena). 58, 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2015.03.002
- González-Megías, A., Menéndez, R., 2012. Climate change effects on above- and belowground interactions in a dryland ecosystem. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 367, 3115–3124. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0346
- R Development Core Team, 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. http://www.RProj ect.org
- Halffter, G., 1991. Historical and ecological factors determining the geographical distribution of beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae: Scarabaeinae). Biogeogr. J. Integr. Biogeogr. 15. https://doi.org/10.21426/B615110376
- Halffter, G., Arellano, L., 2002. Response of Dung Beetle Diversity to Human-induced Changes in a Tropical Landscape1. Biotropica 34, 144–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2002.tb00250.x
- Hanski, I.; Cambefort, Y. Dung beetle ecology. Princeton: Princeton University, 1991. 520 p.
- Hooper, Daire; Coughlan, Joseph; Mullen, M., 2008. Structural Equation Modelling: Guidelines for Determining Model Fit. Princ. Pract. Struct. Equ. Model. 6, 53–60. https://doi.org/10.21427/D7CF7R
- Laliberté, E., Legendre, P., 2010. A distance-based framework for measuring functional diversity from multiple traits. Ecology 91, 299–305. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-2244.1
- Laliberté, E., Shipley, B., Laliberté, M.E., 2012. Measuring functional diversity (FD) from multiple traits, and other 1618 HANNAH M. GRIFFITHS ET AL. Ecology, Vol. 96, No. 6 tools for functional ecology. http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/FD/
- Lehmann, C.E.R., Ratnam, J., Hutley, L.B., 2009. Which of these continents is not like the other? Comparisons of tropical savanna systems: Key questions and challenges. New Phytol. 181, 508–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02734.x
- Lemes, L., de Andrade, A.F.A., Loyola, R., 2019. Spatial priorities for agricultural

development in the Brazilian Cerrado: may economy and conservation coexist? Biodivers. Conserv. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01719-6

- Lobo, J.M., 2006. Molecular dating of phylogenetic trees: A brief review of current methods that estimate divergence times. Divers. Distrib. 12, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1366-9516.2006.00210.x
- Menendez, R., 2007. How are insects responding to global warming? Tijdschr. voor Entomol. 150, 355–365.
- Menéndez, R., González-Megías, A., Jay-Robert, P., Marquéz-Ferrando, R., 2014. Climate change and elevational range shifts: evidence from dung beetles in two European mountain ranges. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 23, 646–657. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12142
- Menéndez, R., Gutiérrez, D., 2004. Shifts in habitat associations of dung beetles in northern Spain: Climate change implications. Écoscience 11, 329–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/11956860.2004.11682840
- Menéndez, R., Webb, P., Orwin, K.H., 2016. Complementarity of dung beetle species with different functional behaviours influence dung–soil carbon cycling. Soil Biol. Biochem. 92, 142–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.10.004
- Milotić, T., Quidé, S., Van Loo, T., Hoffmann, M., 2017. Linking functional group richness and ecosystem functions of dung beetles: an experimental quantification. Oecologia 183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3756-5
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B., Kent, J., 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403, 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M.E., 2008. Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. Biol. Conserv. 141, 1461–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.04.011
- Nobis M. 2005. SideLook 1.1—Imaging software for the analysis of vegetation structure with true-colour photographs. Disponível em. http://www.appleco.ch
- Nunes, C.A., Braga, R.F., Figueira, J.E.C., Neves, F. de S., Fernandes, G.W., 2016. Dung Beetles along a Tropical Altitudinal Gradient: Environmental Filtering on Taxonomic and Functional Diversity. PLoS One 11, e0157442. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157442
- Olsson, E.G.A., Ouattara, S., 2013. Opportunities and Challenges to Capturing the Multiple Potential Benefits of REDD+ in a Traditional Transnational Savanna-Woodland Region in West Africa. Ambio 42, 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-012-0362-6
- Overbeck, G.E., Vélez-Martin, E., Scarano, F.R., Lewinsohn, T.M., Fonseca, C.R., Meyer, S.T., Müller, S.C., Ceotto, P., Dadalt, L., Durigan, G., Ganade, G., Gossner, M.M., Guadagnin, D.L., Lorenzen, K., Jacobi, C.M., Weisser, W.W., Pillar, V.D., 2015. Conservation in Brazil needs to include non-forest ecosystems. Divers. Distrib. 21, 1455–1460. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12380
- Pacifici, M., Foden, W.B., Visconti, P., Watson, J.E.M., Butchart, S.H.M., Kovacs, K.M., Scheffers, B.R., Hole, D.G., Martin, T.G., Akçakaya, H.R., Corlett, R.T., Huntley, B., Bickford, D., Carr, J.A., Hoffmann, A.A., Midgley, G.F., Pearce-Kelly, P., Pearson, R.G., Williams, S.E., Willis, S.G., Young, B., Rondinini, C., 2015. Assessing species

vulnerability to climate change. Nat. Clim. Chang. 5, 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2448

- Parmesan, C., 2006. Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 37, 637–669. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Pecl, G.T., Araújo, M.B., Bell, J.D., Blanchard, J., Bonebrake, T.C., Chen, I.C., Clark, T.D., Colwell, R.K., Danielsen, F., Evengård, B., Falconi, L., Ferrier, S., Frusher, S., Garcia, R.A., Griffis, R.B., Hobday, A.J., Janion-Scheepers, C., Jarzyna, M.A., Jennings, S., Lenoir, J., Linnetved, H.I., Martin, V.Y., McCormack, P.C., McDonald, J., Mitchell, N.J., Mustonen, T., Pandolfi, J.M., Pettorelli, N., Popova, E., Robinson, S.A., Scheffers, B.R., Shaw, J.D., Sorte, C.J.B., Strugnell, J.M., Sunday, J.M., Tuanmu, M.N., Vergés, A., Villanueva, C., Wernberg, T., Wapstra, E., Williams, S.E., 2017. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. Science (80-.). 355. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aai9214
- R Development Core Team, 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. http://www.RProj ect.org
- Roriz, M., 2012. Uma Proposta de Revisão do Zoneamento Bioclimático Brasileiro. ANTAC
  Associação Nacional de Tecnologia do Ambiente Construído Grupo de Trabalho sobre Conforto e Eficiência Energética de Edificações.
- Silva, P.G. da, Hernández, M.I.M., 2015. Spatial Patterns of Movement of Dung Beetle Species in a Tropical Forest Suggest a New Trap Spacing for Dung Beetle Biodiversity Studies. PLoS One 10, e0126112. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0126112
- Sitters, J., Maechler, M., Edwards, P.J., Suter, W., Olde Venterink, H., 2014. Interactions between C:N:P stoichiometry and soil macrofauna control dung decomposition of savanna herbivores. Funct. Ecol. 28, 776–786. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12213
- Slade, E.M., Mann, D.J., Villanueva, J.F., Lewis, O.T., 2007. Experimental evidence for the effects of dung beetle functional group richness and composition on ecosystem function in a tropical forest. J. Anim. Ecol. 76, 1094–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01296.x
- Slade, E.M., Roslin, T., 2016. Dung beetle species interactions and multifunctionality are affected by an experimentally warmed climate. Oikos 125, 1607–1616. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.03207
- Slade, E.M., Roslin, T., Santalahti, M., Bell, T., 2016. Disentangling the "brown world" faecal-detritus interaction web: Dung beetle effects on soil microbial properties. Oikos 125. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.02640
- Sladecek, F.X.J., Segar, S.T., Lee, C., Wall, R., Konvicka, M., 2017. Temporal Segregation between Dung-Inhabiting Beetle and Fly Species. PLoS One 12, e0170426. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170426
- Solar, R.R. de C., Barlow, J., Ferreira, J., Berenguer, E., Lees, A.C., Thomson, J.R., Louzada, J., Maués, M., Moura, N.G., Oliveira, V.H.F., Chaul, J.C.M., Schoereder, J.H., Vieira, I.C.G., Mac Nally, R., Gardner, T.A., 2015. How pervasive is biotic homogenization in human-modified tropical forest landscapes? Ecol. Lett. 18, 1108–1118. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12494

- Tavares, A., Beiroz, W., Fialho, A., Frazão, F., Macedo, R., Louzada, J., Audino, L., 2019. Eucalyptus plantations as hybrid ecosystems: Implications for species conservation in the Brazilian Atlantic forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 433, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.10.063
- Thomas, C.D.A.C., Green, R.E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L.J., Clooingham, Y.C., Erasmus, B.F.N., Siquieira, M.F. De, Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., Jaarsveld, A.S. Van, Midgley, G.F., Miles, L., Ortega-huerta, M.A., Peterson, A.T., Phillips, O.L., Williams, S.E., 2004. Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427, 145–148.
- Tonelli, M., Verdú, J.R., Zunino, M., 2018. Effects of the progressive abandonment of grazing on dung beetle biodiversity: body size matters. Biodivers. Conserv. 27, 189–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-017-1428-3
- Vaz-de-Mello, F.Z., Edmonds, W.D., Ocampo, F.C., Schoolmeesters, P., 2011. A multilingual key to the genera and subgenera of the subfamily Scarabaeinae of the New World (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Zootaxa 2854, 1. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2854.1.1
- Valdés, A., García, D., 2011. Direct and indirect effects of landscape change on the reproduction of a temperate perennial herb. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 1422–1431. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02047.x
- Veen, G.F. (Ciska), Olff, H., Duyts, H., van der Putten, W.H., 2010. Vertebrate herbivores influence soil nematodes by modifying plant communities. Ecology 91, 828–835. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-0134.1
- Wu, X., Sun, S., 2010. The roles of beetles and flies in yak dung removal in an alpine meadow of eastern Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. Écoscience 17, 146–155. https://doi.org/10.2980/17-2-3319

# Supplementary material



**Fig. S1** Experimental arena used for measuring the dung beetles ecological functions: dung removal and soil bioturbation (see main text for description).



**Fig. S2** Differences in A) dung beetle species richness; B) dung beetle total biomass; C) dung removal; D) soil bioturbation; E) larvae abundance; and F) adult-fly abundance among bioclimatic zones: Arinos, Formiga and Januária. Identical letters above the bars indicate that there were no significant differences among the bioclimatic zone (p > 0.05).

### **CONCLUSÃO GERAL**

Neste trabalho avaliamos como a conversão de savana tropical (Cerrado) em pastagens afeta a biodiversidade e as funções ecossistêmicas associadas, utilizando os besouros rolabosta como ferramenta de estudo. Utilizamos características morfológicas e comportamental para calcular os parâmetros de diversidade funcional, e testamos como a diversidade taxonômica (riqueza, abundância, biomassa e composição) e a diversidade funcional (riqueza, equitabilidade e divergência funcionais, e composição funcional) são afetadas pelas mudanças no uso do solo. Além disso, selecionamos três diferentes zonas bioclimáticas e avaliamos como variáveis ambientais e climática afetam a comunidade de besouros rola-bosta e suas funções de remoção de fezes, revolvimento do solo, e interação entre besouros e moscas detritívoras.

Encontramos que a conversão do Cerrado em pastagens afeta tanto a diversidade taxonômica quanto a diversidade funcional. Houve declínio na riqueza de espécies, e na riqueza e equitabilidade funcional, possivelmente causada pela perda de características funcionais nas pastagens. A mudança de uso do solo altera também a composição de espécies e a composição funcional. Encontramos também que os efeitos da mudança de uso do solo são dependentes da zona bioclimática e ambos têm efeitos diretos e indiretos na comunidade de rola-bosta e suas funções. A riqueza de espécies foi a variável mais importante, tendo efeito em todas as outras variáveis da comunidade de besouros, nas variáveis funcionais e de moscas detritívoras. Com isso, nossos resultados sugerem um efeito cascata, mostrando que a perda na riqueza de espécies causada pela conversão de Cerrado em pastagens leva à perda da funcionalidade do ecossistema. No entanto, mostramos que a comunidade de besouros e suas funções são afetadas de maneira diferente, dependendo da região bioclimática em que se encontram, sendo fortemente dependentes do contexto regional.

Como o aumento da substituição de áreas nativas para implementação de pastagens para criação de gado e áreas agrícolas, impulsionado pelo aumento populacional e crescente demanda para produção de alimento (Aide et al., 2013; Sy et al., 2015), torna-se importante entender as potenciais consequências dessa alteração na biodiversidade e nas funções ecossistêmicas. Associada às mudanças de uso do solo, as mudanças climáticas também têm tido importante impacto nos sistemas biológicos, podendo afetar a distribuição das espécies e as interações entre elas (González-Megías and Menéndez, 2012; Milotić et al., 2017; Parmesan, 2006), sendo juntas as principais responsáveis pela perda da biodiversidade em regiões tropicais (Lemes et al., 2019; Pacifici et al., 2015). Em sistemas agrícolas os besouros rola-bosta desempenham importantes funções, tais como remoção de fezes, revolvimento de solo, dispersão secundária de sementes e controle de moscas hematófagas, e com isso contribuem para diversos processos ecológicos (Braga et al., 2012; Halffter and Favila, 1993; Manning and Cutler, 2018; Nichols et al., 2008). Sendo assim, manter comunidades funcionais desses organismos é crucial para a manutenção do funcionamento dos ecossistemas.

Nossos resultados ajudam a compreender os efeitos da conversão de savanas tropicais em pastagens na biodiversidade e suas funções, assim como os efeitos das variações climáticas associadas a essas mudanças de uso do solo. Com esse trabalho, enfatizamos a importância de manter a conservação do Cerrado para manutenção da biodiversidade e da funcionalidade dos ecossistemas, e sugerimos que políticas públicas sejam tomadas de forma a considerar o contexto climático, já que as comunidades de besouros e suas funções se mostraram dependentes das características regionais.

## REFERÊNCIAS

- Aide, T.M., Clark, M.L., Grau, H.R., López-Carr, D., Levy, M.A., Redo, D., Bonilla-Moheno, M., Riner, G., Andrade-Núñez, M.J., Muñiz, M., 2013. Deforestation and Reforestation of Latin America and the Caribbean (2001-2010). Biotropica 45, 262–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2012.00908.x
- Braga, R.F., Korasaki, V., Audino, L.D., Louzada, J., 2012. Are Dung Beetles Driving Dung-Fly Abundance in Traditional Agricultural Areas in the Amazon? Ecosystems 15, 1173– 1181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-012-9576-5
- González-Megías, A., Menéndez, R., 2012. Climate change effects on above- and belowground interactions in a dryland ecosystem. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 367, 3115–3124. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0346
- Halffter, G., Favila, M.E., 1993. The Scarabaeinae (Insecta: Coleoptera), an animal group for analysing, inventorying and monitoring biodiversity in tropical rainforest and modified landscapes. Biol. Int. 27, 15–21.
- Lemes, L., de Andrade, A.F.A., Loyola, R., 2019. Spatial priorities for agricultural development in the Brazilian Cerrado: may economy and conservation coexist? Biodivers. Conserv. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01719-6
- Manning, P., Cutler, G.C., 2018. Agriculture , Ecosystems and Environment Ecosystem functioning is more strongly impaired by reducing dung beetle abundance than by reducing species richness. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 264, 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.05.002
- Milotić, T., Quidé, S., Van Loo, T., Hoffmann, M., 2017. Linking functional group richness and ecosystem functions of dung beetles: an experimental quantification. Oecologia 183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3756-5
- Nichols, E., Spector, S., Louzada, J., Larsen, T., Amezquita, S., Favila, M.E., 2008. Ecological functions and ecosystem services provided by Scarabaeinae dung beetles. Biol. Conserv. 141, 1461–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.04.011
- Pacifici, M., Foden, W.B., Visconti, P., Watson, J.E.M., Butchart, S.H.M., Kovacs, K.M., Scheffers, B.R., Hole, D.G., Martin, T.G., Akçakaya, H.R., Corlett, R.T., Huntley, B., Bickford, D., Carr, J.A., Hoffmann, A.A., Midgley, G.F., Pearce-Kelly, P., Pearson, R.G., Williams, S.E., Willis, S.G., Young, B., Rondinini, C., 2015. Assessing species vulnerability to climate change. Nat. Clim. Chang. 5, 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2448
- Parmesan, C., 2006. Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 37, 637–669. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Sy, V. De, Herold, M., Achard, F., Beuchle, R., Clevers, J.G.P.W., Lindquist, E., Verchot, L., 2015. Land use patterns and related carbon losses following deforestation in South America. Environ. Res. Lett. 10, 124004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124004